9025208

When Recorded, Mail to: D.R. Horton, Inc. 11075 South State Street Suite 30 Sandy, Utah 84070 Attention: Rustin J. Tolbert

9025208 04/06/2004 02:07 PM 214.00 Book - 8969 P9 - 2825-2886 GARY W. OTT RECORDER, SALT LAKE COUNTY, UTAH DR HORTON HOMES 11075 S STATE ST SANDY UTAH 84070 BY: SBM, DEPUTY - WI 62 P.

DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS AND EASEMENTS OF STONEGATE TOWNHOMES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
1.	RECITALS	1
2.	DEFINITIONS	
3.	DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY AND THE IMPROVEMENTS	5
4.	DESCRIPTION OF LOTS	5
5.	DESCRIPTION AND OWNERSHIP OF COMMON AREAS	
6.	DESCRIPTION OF LIMITED COMMON AREAS	6
7.	OPTION TO EXPAND	6
8.	NATURE AND INCIDENTS OF LOT OWNERSHIP	9
9.	VOTING	
10.	TITLE TO LOTS	10
11.	CERTAIN ADDITIONAL DEVELOPMENTAL RIGHTS	11
12.	RESTRICTIONS ON USE	12
13.	ASSOCIATION AND MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	20
14.	MAINTENANCE, ALTERATION AND IMPROVEMENT	22
15.	INSURANCE	
16.	DESTRUCTION OR DAMAGE	26
17.	EMINENT DOMAIN	
18.	MORTGAGEE PROTECTION	28
19.	AMENDMENT	29
20.	ASSESSMENT OF LOTS BY THE ASSOCIATION	32
21.	EASEMENTS	36
22.	NOTICES	38
23.	NO WAIVER	38
24.	ENFORCEMENT	38
25.	ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION	39
26.	DECLARANT	42
27.	SEVERABILITY	42
28.	CAPTIONS	42
29.	LAW CONTROLLING	
30.	CONSTRUCTION	
31.	EFFECTIVE DATE	

DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS AND EASEMENTS OF STONEGATE TOWNHOMES

THIS DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS AND EASEMENTS OF STONEGATE TOWNHOMES ("this <u>Declaration</u>") is made and executed by D. R. HORTON, INC., a Delaware corporation (hereinafter referred to as "<u>Declarant</u>").

1. RECITALS

- 1.1 Declarant holds both legal and equitable title to the real property located in the County of Salt Lake, State of Utah, hereinafter more particularly described, upon which Declarant desires to develop a residential subdivision.
- 1.2 The covenants, conditions and restrictions contained in this Declaration and in the Exhibits hereto shall be enforceable equitable servitudes and shall run with the land.
- 1.3 Recorded simultaneously herewith is a subdivision plat of the Project (as hereinafter defined).
- 1.4 All capitalized terms used in this Declaration shall have the definitions as set forth herein.
 - 1.5 The Project shall be known as Stonegate Townhomes.

2. **DEFINITIONS**

- 2.1 Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, certain terms as used in this Declaration and the foregoing Recitals shall have the meanings set forth in this Section 2.
- 2.2 "<u>Additional Land</u>" shall mean the land that may be added to the Project in accordance with the provisions of Section 7, which Additional land is described in Section 7.1.1.
- 2.3 "Amendment" shall mean any amendment to this Declaration made in accordance with this Declaration.
- 2.4 "Areas of Common Responsibility" shall mean those portions of the Project for which the Association shall have responsibility to maintain, repair and replace, as needed from time to time, which shall include the exterior portions of all Buildings constructed within the Project, including without limitation, the roof, foundation, footings, columns, girders, beams, supports and all exterior surfaces other than windows, doors and garage doors and also all of the Common Areas, including without limitation, the Limited Common Areas within the Project as identified on the Plat, which will include all landscaping, sprinkler systems, grass, flowers, plant beds, ground cover, trees, shrubs, bushes, fences, playground equipment, sidewalks, walkways and other similar improvements located within the Common Areas of the Project as shown on the Plat. The Areas of Common Responsibility shall include all central or common utility systems for telephones, gas, electrical power, water, sewer and other similar utilities including utility laterals for such improvements to the point where they enter an individual Dwelling on a

531334.4

BK 8969 PG 2827

- Lot. The Association shall be responsible to operate, maintain, repair, as necessary, the Areas of Common Responsibility. The expenses incurred by the Association in performing such responsibilities shall be deemed Common Expenses to be paid out of Common Assessments that are levied by the Association against the Owners of the Lots within the Project.
- 2.5 "Areas of Private Responsibility" shall mean, with respect to the Owner of each Lot within the Project, the areas for which each such Owner is responsible, at such Owner's sole cost and expense, to maintain, repair and replace, as needed from time to time, which shall include the following:
- 2.5.1 all interior portions of such Owner's Dwelling and garage area (including any appurtenant Private Garage Easement) that is appurtenant to such Dwelling, including without limitation, all windows, doors, interior areas, garage doors, garage door systems, and all fixtures, Furnishings, porches, landings, patios and balconies located within each Owner's Lot; and
- 2.5.2 the interior surface of the fence surrounding each Owner's Lot and all landscaping, green space, sprinkler systems, grass, flowers, ground cover, trees, shrubs, bushes and other plant life located within such Owner's Lot;
- 2.6 "Articles" shall mean the Articles of Incorporation of Stonegate Townhomes Homeowners' Association, Inc., a Utah non-profit corporation.
- 2.7 "<u>Association</u>" shall mean Stonegate Townhome Homeowners' Association, Inc., a Utah non-profit corporation, organized for the purposes set forth in this Declaration.
- 2.8 "<u>Buildings</u>" shall mean the buildings constructed as part of the Project, as described in Section 3.2.
- 2.9 "Bylaws" shall mean the Bylaws of the Association, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by this reference, as amended from time to time.
- 2.10 "Common Areas" shall mean all portions of the Project other than the Lots, as described in Section 5 hereof, including the Limited Common Areas. The undivided interest in the Common Areas appurtenant to each Lot shall be as set forth in Section 5.2.
- 2.11 "<u>Common Assessments</u>" shall mean those assessments described in Section 20 to fund the Common Expenses, and include Regular Common Assessments, Special Common Assessments and any other assessments levied by the Association.
- 2.12 "<u>Common Expenses</u>" shall mean all expenses of the administration, maintenance, repair, or replacement of the Areas of Common Responsibility and all other expenses denominated as Common Expenses by this Declaration.
- 2.13 "Common Expense Fund" shall mean one or more deposit or investment accounts of the Association into which are deposited the Common Assessments.

- 2.14 "<u>Cost of Living Index</u>" shall mean the Consumer Price Index, all Urban Consumers—U.S. City Average—All Items (1982-84 = 100). Declarant may select any other comparable index which measures changes in the cost of living.
- 2.15 "<u>Declarant</u>" shall mean D. R. HORTON, INC., a Delaware corporation, or any successor in interest as the developer of the Project.
- 2.16 "<u>Declaration</u>" shall mean this Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements of Stonegate Townhomes, and all amendments, modifications and supplements hereto.
- 2.17 "<u>Developmental Rights</u>" shall mean the right to (1) add real estate to the Project pursuant to Section 7 hereof, and (2) exercise any of the rights set forth in Section 11 hereof.
 - 2.18 "Dwelling" shall mean and refer to residential townhome constructed upon a Lot.
 - 2.19 "FHLMC" shall mean Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation.
 - 2.20 "FNMA" shall mean the Federal National Mortgage Association.
- 2.21 "<u>Furnishings</u>" shall mean all furniture, furnishings, utensils, equipment, facilities and personal property within a Dwelling on a Lot.
- 2.22 "<u>Limited Common Areas</u>" shall mean a portion of the Common Areas allocated by this Declaration, and as may be shown on the Plat, for the exclusive use of one or more, but fewer than all, of the Lots.
- 2.23 "Lot" shall mean a portion of the Property within the Project, other than the Common Areas intended for any type of independent ownership and use as shown on the Plat. The term Lot includes the Dwelling located on such Lot and any physical structure or improvement constructed on such Lot.
- 2.24 "<u>Lot Number</u>" shall mean and refer to the number designating a particular Lot as shown on the Plat.
- 2.25 "Management Committee" shall mean the Board of Directors of the Association, appointed or elected in accordance with this Declaration and the Bylaws.
- 2.26 "Manager" shall mean the person, firm or company designated by the Association to manage, in whole or in part, the affairs of the Association and the Project.
- 2.27 "Mortgage" shall mean any mortgage, deed of trust or other security instrument (including the seller's rights under a contract for deed) by which a Lot or any part thereof or interest therein is encumbered. A "First Mortgage" is a Mortgage having priority as to all other Mortgages encumbering a Lot or any part thereof or interest therein.
- 2.28 "Mortgagee" shall mean any person or entity named as the mortgagee, beneficiary or holder of the seller's interest under any Mortgage by which the interest of any Owner is

encumbered, or any successor to the interest of such person under such Mortgage. A "First Mortgagee" shall mean any person or entity holding a First Mortgage including any insurer or guarantor of a First Mortgage. Any and all Mortgagee protections contained in this Declaration shall also protect the Declarant as the holder of a First Mortgage of a Lot or any interest therein.

- 2.29 "Owner" shall mean any person or entity, including Declarant, at any time owning a Lot or an interest in a Lot within the Project (including, to the extent permitted by law, those purchasing an interest pursuant to a contract for deed who have given written notice of their purchase and a copy of their contract to the Association). The term "Owner" shall not refer to any Mortgagee, unless such Mortgagee has acquired title for other than security purposes.
- 2.30 "Period of Declarant Control" shall mean the period of time during which Declarant shall be entitled, for purposes of the Association, to vote three (3) votes for every Residential Lot owned by Declarant and during which period of time Declarant shall be entitled to appoint all of the members of the Board of Directors of the Association and all of the officers of the Association, as provided in Section 11 hereof.
- 2.31 "Private Garage Area" shall mean any of the specified private garage areas, as identified on the Plat, that are located on the main level beneath any of Lots 3, 6, 9, 12, 15, 18, 21, 24, 39, 42, 45, 48, 51, 54, 57, 60, 63, 66, 69, 72 of 75 that are intended to be used by the Owner of a specified Lot, as identified on the Plat, for the parking of one or more motor vehicles and for the storage of personal property owned by the Owner of such Lot.
- 2.32 "<u>Private Garage Easement</u>" shall mean a perpetual, exclusive easement to use a specified Private Garage Area, as identified on the Plat, which Private Garage Easement is appurtenant to a specified Lot, as also identified on the Plat.
- 2.33 "Plat" shall mean the Stonegate Townhomes Amended Plat recorded in the Office of the Recorder of Salt Lake County, Utah, a reduced copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit C, as it may be amended from time to time pursuant to this Declaration, which Stonegate Townhomes Amended Plat constitutes a vacation and replat of the Stonegate Townhomes Plat that was recorded in the Office of the Recorder of Salt Lake County, Utah on July 31, 2003 as Entry No. 8753639 in Book 2003P at Page 218. It is also contemplated that the Plat may be amended in the event that Declarant exercises the Option to Expand the Project in accordance with the terms of Section 7 hereof.
- 2.34 "<u>Project</u>" shall mean the Property, the Lots, the Dwellings, the Buildings, the Common Areas and all improvements submitted to the provisions this Declaration.
- 2.35 "Property" shall mean that certain real property situated in the County of Salt Lake, State of Utah, more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, on which the Lots and other improvements are located.
- 2.36 "Regular Common Assessments" shall mean the annual assessments levied by the Association to pay the budgeted Common Expenses.

- 2.37 "Rules" shall mean the rules and regulations, if any, adopted by the Association, if any, as such may be amended from time to time with respect to the conduct and activities of the Owners of Lots within the Project and their guests, invitees and tenants..
- 2.38 "Special Common Assessments" shall mean assessments that the Association may levy from time to time, in addition to the Regular Common Assessments, for unexpected Common Expenses or other purposes as provided herein.
- 2.39 "Supplemental Plat" shall mean any amendment to the Plat made in accordance with this Declaration.
- 2.40 "<u>Total Votes of the Association</u>" shall mean the total number of votes appertaining to all Lots, as described in Section 9 hereof.
 - 2.41 "VA" shall mean the United States Department of Veteran Affairs.
- 2.42 "<u>Visible from Neighboring Property</u>" shall mean, with respect to any given object, visible to a person six feet tall, standing on any part of neighboring property at an elevation no greater than ground level where the object is located (assuming the ground level where the person is standing is at the same height as the ground level where the object is located).

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY AND THE IMPROVEMENTS

- 3.1 The Property on which the Lots, Dwellings, Buildings and Common Areas are located is situated in Salt Lake County, Utah and is more particularly described on <u>Exhibit A</u> attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.
- 3.2 The initial phase of the Project shall consist of 81 Lots on which shall be constructed 14 Buildings containing 81 Dwellings. The Buildings shall be principally constructed of: concrete footings and foundation; steel and concrete frame below ground; wood frame above ground; cultured stone and stucco exteriors; sheetrock interiors; asphalt shingle roofs; and such other materials as allowed by current building codes. The Buildings will be supplied with telephone, cable television, electricity, natural gas, water, and sewer service. The Project also includes the Common Areas described herein, which Common Areas shall include an outdoor play area for children, and the landscaped areas, and parking areas in the locations identified on the Plat.

4. **DESCRIPTION OF LOTS**

The boundary lines of each Lot and the dimensions thereof are as set forth on the Plat and consist of one-half (to the center thereof) of any common wall within two separate Dwellings which common wall separates one Lot from another Lot and which common wall is located on the common boundary line of such two Lots. Each Lot shall include both the portions of a Building within such boundary lines and the space so encompassed, excepting Common Areas. The Plat contains the Lot number of each Lot in the Project.

5

.

5. DESCRIPTION AND OWNERSHIP OF COMMON AREAS

- 5.1 The Common Areas shall mean and include all parts of the Property identified on the Plat as Common Areas and Limited Common Areas. In the event of a conflict between this Declaration and the Plat, the provisions of this Declaration shall control.
- 5.2 The undivided interest in the Common Areas appurtenant to each Lot in the Project shall be a fraction, the numerator of which is 1 and the denominator of which is the total number of Lots within the Project, as it may be expanded from time to time as provided in Section 7 below. In the event that Declarant exercises the Option to Expand the Project as provided in Section 7 below, the undivided interest in the Common Areas appurtenant to each Lot within the Project shall automatically be changed at the time Declarant records an Amendment to this Declaration and a Supplemental Plat reflecting Declarant's exercise of the Option to Expand, as provided in Section 7 below.

6. DESCRIPTION OF LIMITED COMMON AREAS

Limited Common Areas shall mean a portion of the Common Areas reserved for the use of certain Owners to the exclusion of other Owners, including but not limited to any driveways, sidewalks, and parking stalls as indicated by this Declaration or the Plat to be for the exclusive use of one or more but fewer than all of the Lots. The Limited Common Areas shall be those areas designated as such on the Plat or in this Declaration. Owners may not reallocate Limited Common Areas between or among Lots.

7. OPTION TO EXPAND

- 7.1 Declarant hereby reserves the option to expand the Project (the "Option to Expand") upon the terms and provisions set forth in this Section 7 without the prior consent of the Owners or the Association. Each Option to Expand must be exercised no later than seven (7) years from the date of recording this Declaration. Declarant shall have the right to exercise the rights under this Section 7 with respect to any portion of the Additional Land Declarant owns in fee simple or has an option to purchase. The terms and conditions of the Option to Expand shall be as follows:
- 7.1.1 Subject to the power granted Declarant in Section 7.1.3 below, the real property subject to the Option to Expand consists of the real property referred to as the Additional Land, being more particularly described as follows:
- (a) That certain real property located in Salt Lake County, State of Utah, more particularly described as follows:

BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF TWIN OAKS II SUBDIVISION PHASES I AND II, RECORDED IN THE SALT LAKE COUNTY RECORDER'S OFFICE UNDER ENTRY NO. 3510947 IN BOOK 80-12 PAGE 193, SAID POINT BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS BEING NORTH 0°02'16" WEST, 990.73 FEET AND SOUTH 89°53'05" WEST, 40.00 FEET FROM THE EAST QUARTER CORNER OF SECTION 3, TOWNSHIP 3 SOUTH, RANGE 1 WEST, SALT LAKE BASE

AND MERIDIAN; AND RUNNING THENCE SOUTH 0°02'16" EAST, 67.68 FEET TO A POINT ON THE BOUNDARY OF STONEGATE TOWNHOMES AMENDED; THENCE ALONG SAID BOUNDARY THE FOLLOWING THREE (3) COURSES: 23.56 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A 15.00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE RIGHT (CHORD BEARS SOUTH 44°57'44" WEST, 21.21 FEET); THENCE SOUTH 89°57'44" WEST, 182.64 FEET; THENCE NORTH, 82.41 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID TWIN OAKS II SUBDIVISION PHASES I AND II; THENCE NORTH 89°53'05" EAST, 197.59 FEET ALONG SAID SUBDIVISION TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

CONTAINS: 0.3734 ACRES

- 7.1.2 Subject to the provisions of Section 7.1.3 below, the Option to Expand may be exercised at different times as to portions of the Additional Land and in any order elected by the Declarant. No assurance is made with regard to which portions of the Additional Land, if any, will be added to the Project or the order in which such portions will be so expanded. In the event the Option to Expand is exercised with respect to a portion of the Additional Land, the Option to Expand may subsequently be exercised with respect to any other portion of the Additional Land.
- 7.1.3 Declarant shall not be restricted in the location of improvements on the Additional Land or in the number of Lots that may be created on the Additional Land, except as may be required by applicable zoning requirements, ordinances or regulations, provided the Project when completed shall not exceed 87 Lots. With respect to any portion of the Additional Land, if any, that will be added to the Project, 100% of any Additional Land added to the Project and 100% of the Lots that may be created on it shall be restricted exclusively to residential purposes, including parking.
- 7.1.4 The Lots to be located on the Additional Land shall be subject to the same uses as provided in Section 8, as applicable, hereof. Declarant reserves the right to exercise all Developmental Rights with respect to any Lots located on the Additional Land.
- 7.1.5 The ownership interest in the Common Areas for all Lots in the Project shall be changed at the time Declarant records an Amendment to this Declaration and a Supplemental Plat reflecting Declarant's exercise of the Option to Expand in accordance with the provisions set forth in Section 7.1.6 below. Such changes in ownership interest shall be reflected in an Amendment to this Declaration to be recorded in the Office of the Recorder of Salt Lake County, Utah. It is contemplated that there may be multiple Amendments filed by Declarant, and such Amendments are hereby expressly authorized.
- 7.1.6 Declarant shall calculate and revise the undivided interest for each Lot in Common Areas based upon the following formula:

Total number of Lots within the Project, as expanded

Undivided interest in the Common Areas of the Project appurtenant to each Lot

Declarant shall have the right to adjust the resulting ownership interests of all Lots in the Common Areas of the Project as may be necessary to assure that the total ownership interest equals 100%.

- 7.1.7 Each Owner, by execution of a contract for deed or the acceptance of a deed to a Lot in the Project, shall be deemed to have consented to all provisions of this Section, including the procedure for adjustment of Common Area ownership interests pursuant to Section 7.1.5 hereof. After the filing for record of any Amendment to this Declaration and the Supplemental Plat reflecting Declarant's exercise of the Option to Expand, or any part thereof, legal and equitable title to each Lot thereby created within the Additional Land including its appurtenant ownership interest in the Common Areas shall be vested in and held by Declarant, or Declarant's grantees or designees, and none of the other Owners shall have any claim or title to or interest in such Lot or its appurtenant ownership interest in the Common Areas.
- 7.1.8 Declarant shall not be required to obtain the consent of any Owners or of any other person or entity having any right or interest in all or any portion of the Project prior to or subsequent to adding all or portions of the Additional Land.
- 7.1.9 No provision of this Section 7 shall be amended without the prior written consent of Declarant so long as it owns or has the right to acquire any Lots in the Project.
- 7.1.10 Declarant, at Declarant's own expense, shall obtain a general liability insurance policy in an amount not less than \$1,000,000 for each occurrence, to cover any liability to which Owners of previously sold Lots are exposed as the result of Project development by Declarant in exercising the Option to Expand the Project, as provided in this Section 7.
- 7.1.11 Each time that Declarant exercises the Option to Expand the Project to add some of the Additional Land to the Project, Declarant shall send to VA a copy of the amendment to this Declaration that is recorded in the Office of the Recorder of Salt Lake County, Utah for such purpose.
- 7.2 Other than the exercise of the Option to Expand the Project by Declarant, in accordance with the provisions of Section 7.1 above, the Project shall not be merged with a successor residential subdivision without the prior written approval of VA. Such VA approval shall not be required for Declarant to exercise the Option to Expand the Project to add the Additional Land to the Project in accordance with the provisions of Section 7.1 above.
- 7.3 Any liens or encumbrances arising in connection with Declarant's development of the Additional Land shall not adversely affect the rights of the existing Owners or the priority of the First Mortgages on existing Lots. In the event FNMA holds any Mortgage secured by any existing Lot, at the time the Additional Land is to be added to the Project, the Association shall

8

deliver to FNMA title evidence, in form satisfactory to FNMA, disclosing any lien, easement or other encumbrance affecting the Additional Land or that will affect the Project after the addition of the Additional Land.

8. NATURE AND INCIDENTS OF LOT OWNERSHIP

- 8.1 Each Lot is and shall hereafter be a parcel of real property that may be owned in fee simple and that may be separately held, conveyed, devised, mortgaged, encumbered, leased, rented, used, occupied, improved and otherwise affected in accordance with the provisions of this Declaration.
- 8.2 Subject to the limitations contained in this Declaration, each Lot Owner shall have the non-exclusive right to use and enjoy the Common Areas and the exclusive right to occupy and use such Lot and any Limited Common Areas designated for exclusive use by such Lot Owner.
- 8.3 The Plat identifies certain Lots within the Project that are configured in such a manner that such Lot and the improvements thereon will not include a private garage. In each such case, the Plat identifies with respect to each such Lot a Private Garage Easement that shall be a perpetual, exclusive easement to use a designated Private Garage Area, as identified on the Plat for the parking of one or more motor vehicles and for the storage of personal property owned by the Owner of such Lot. Each such Private Garage Easement that is appurtenant to a specified Lot, as identified on the Plat, shall continue to be appurtenant to the Lot to which it is assigned and shall not be separated therefrom by conveyance, assignment or any other means. Upon the conveyance of any Lot within the Project with respect to which the Plat identifies an appurtenant Private Garage Easement, such Private Garage Easement shall be included in the conveyance or encumbrance of any such appurtenant Lot, even if there is no reference to such Private Garage Easement in the instrument of conveyance. The Owner of each Lot to which there has been assigned an appurtenant Private Garage Easement shall be responsible to clean, maintain and repair the Private Garage Area that is the subject of such Private Garage Easement.
- 8.4 Each Lot Owner shall keep the Lot, including without limitation, the Areas of Private Responsibility within the Lot, the Furnishings, interior walls, windows, ceilings, floors, garage area and/or appurtenant Private Garage Area and all permanent fixtures and appurtenances thereto, in a sanitary condition and in a good state of repair. In the event that any such Lot should develop an unsanitary condition or fall into a state of disrepair and in the event that the Owner of such Lot should fail to correct such condition or state of disrepair promptly following written notice from the Association, then the Association shall have the right, at the expense of the Owner and without liability to the Owner for trespass or otherwise, to enter said Lot and the Dwelling located thereon and correct or eliminate said unsanitary condition or state of disrepair. Lot Owners of adjoining Lots may not reallocate or change the boundaries of such Lots. No Lot Owner may subdivide his Lot.
- 8.5 The Association shall have the right to enter into any Lot and the Dwelling located thereon for the purpose of cleaning, maintenance, repairs, including emergency repairs, and for the purpose of abating a nuisance, or a known or suspected dangerous or unlawful activity.

- 8.6 The persons or entities who are at the time of reference Lot Owners shall, by virtue of acquiring title to the Lot, automatically be deemed to be Members of the Association, the characteristics and nature of which are determined by this Declaration, the Bylaws, the Articles and other applicable Utah law. Membership in the Association is appurtenant to each Lot and may not be separated or severed therefrom. Every gift, devise, bequest, transfer, encumbrance, conveyance or other disposition of a Lot shall automatically be construed to be a gift, devise, bequest, transfer, encumbrance or conveyance, respectively, of the appurtenant Membership in the Association without the need of any separate transfer or assignment document.
- 8.7 Each Lot shall be deemed to be a separate parcel and shall be assessed separately for all taxes, assessments, and other charges of the State of Utah or of any political subdivision thereof or of any special improvement district or of any other taxing or assessing authority. All such taxes, assessments, and other charges on each respective Lot shall be separately levied against the Owner thereof. No forfeiture or sale of any Lot for delinquent taxes, assessments, or other governmental charges shall divest or in any way affect the title to any other Lot.
- 8.8 Certain parking areas within the Project constitute Common Areas and shall be constructed and utilized in compliance with all local ordinances. The portions of the parking areas within the Common Areas shall be available for use by any of the Owners of Lots within the Project or their guests or invitees, subject to the Rules as may be promulgated from time to time by the Association.
- 8.9 Any lease or rental agreement for a Lot must be in writing and must be subject to the terms of this Declaration, the Bylaws, the Rules, and other documentation of the Association. An Owner shall not lease such Owner's Lot for an initial term of less than thirty (30) days.

9. <u>VOTING</u>

With respect to any matter to be voted upon by the members of the Association as provided in the Bylaws, each Owner of a Lot, either in person, by proxy, or by written ballot, shall be entitled to vote the one (1) vote appurtenant to each Lot owned by such Owner. The voting rights appurtenant to each Lot shall vest upon execution and recording of the Plat and this Declaration. In the event that Declarant exercises Declarant's Option to Expand the Project as set forth in Section 7 with respect to any portion of Additional Land, then the voting rights appurtenant to each such additional Lot shall vest upon the execution and recording of each Supplemental Plat and the related Amendment to this Declaration. During the Period of Declarant Control, Declarant shall be entitled, for purposes of the Association, to vote three (3) votes for every Lot owned by Declarant, and during such period of time, Declarant shall be entitled to appoint all of the members of the Board of Directors of the Association and all of the officers of the Association, as provided in Section 11 hereof.

10. TITLE TO LOTS

10.1 Title to a Lot within the Project may be held or owned by any person or entity in fee simple.

- 10.2 Title to a part of a Lot within the Project may not be separated from any other part thereof during the period of ownership, and each Lot, and the undivided interest in the Common Areas appurtenant to each Lot, shall always be conveyed, devised, encumbered and otherwise affected only as a complete Lot. Every gift, devise, bequest, transfer, encumbrance, conveyance or other disposition of a Lot shall be construed to be a gift, devise, bequest, transfer, encumbrance or conveyance, respectively, of the entire Lot, together with all appurtenant rights created by law and by this Declaration, including appurtenant membership in the Association as herein set forth.
- 10.3 The Common Areas shall be owned in common by all of the Owners as tenants in common, and no Owner may bring any action for partition thereof.
- 10.4 Each Owner shall have the right to encumber his interest in a Lot with a Mortgage. However, no Owner shall attempt to nor shall have the right to encumber the Common Areas or any part thereof, except the undivided interest therein appurtenant to his interest in a Lot. Any Mortgage of any Lot within the Project shall be subordinate to all of the provisions of this Declaration, and in the event of foreclosure the provisions of this Declaration shall be binding upon any Owner whose title is derived through foreclosure by private power of sale, judicial foreclosure, or otherwise.
- 10.5 No labor performed or services or materials furnished with the consent of or at the request of an Owner may be the basis for the filing of a lien against the Lot of any other Owner, or against any part thereof, or against any other property of any other Owner, unless the other Owner has expressly consented to or requested the performance of such labor or furnishing of such services. Express consent shall be deemed to have been given by the Owner in the case of emergency repairs thereto. Labor performed or services or materials furnished for the Project, if authorized by the Association and provided for in this Declaration, shall be deemed to be performed or furnished with the express consent of each Owner. The Owner may remove his Lot from a lien against two or more Lots or any part thereof by payment to the holder of the lien of the fraction of the total sums secured by such lien which is attributable to his Lot.
- 10.6 Every contract for the sale of a Lot and every other instrument affecting title to a Lot within the Project may describe a Lot by the name of the Project, the county wherein the Project is located and its Lot Number as shown on the Plat. Such description will be construed to describe the Lot, together with the undivided interest in the Common Areas appurtenant to a Lot, and to incorporate all the rights incident to ownership of a Lot within the Project and all of the limitations on such ownership as described in this Declaration.

11. CERTAIN ADDITIONAL DEVELOPMENTAL RIGHTS

The following additional Developmental Rights are hereby granted or reserved by Declarant:

11.1 Declarant hereby reserves an easement throughout the Project for a period of eight (8) years from the recording of this Declaration for the purpose of completing all improvements contemplated by this Declaration and the Plat, including but not limited to improvements to the Additional Land. Declarant's use of the easement reserved pursuant to this Section 11 is

conditioned on the requirement that Declarant shall repair and restore any damage caused by Declarant as the result of the use of the easement by Declarant. In order for Declarant to use the easement reserved pursuant to this Section 11, Declarant must reasonably determine that there is not a reasonably available alternate means of access.

- 11.2 Declarant hereby reserves the right to maintain sales offices, management offices, signs advertising the Project, and models in any of the Lots that it owns or on the Common Areas of the Project for a period of ten (10) years from the recording of this Declaration. Declarant shall be entitled to utilize, at any one time, up to 5 Lots which it owns and some or all of the Common Areas as sales offices, management offices, and models anywhere in the Project. Declarant may relocate sales offices, management offices, and models to other Lots or Common Areas at any time.
- 11.3 There is hereby established a Period of Declarant Control of the Association during which period Declarant shall be entitled to vote three (3) votes for every Lot owned by Declarant and during which period Declarant shall have the authority to appoint and remove the Association officers and members of the Board. The Period of Declarant Control shall terminate on the earlier of: (a) five (5) years after the recordation in the Office of the Recorder of Salt Lake County, Utah of the most recently recorded Amendment to this Declaration that is recorded for the purpose of expanding the Project pursuant to Section 7 hereof; or (b) one hundred twenty (120) days after the date 75% of the total number of Lots in the Project are conveyed to Lot Owners other than Declarant, after all Additional Land has been added to the Project; or (c) the date Declarant delivers to the Association written notice of Declarant's election to relinquish control of the Association.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, to assure the representation of Owners other than Declarant on the Board, at least twenty percent (20%) of the members of the Board shall be elected solely by the vote of the Owners other than Declarant so long as a majority of the voting power of the Association resides in Declarant. A member who has been elected to office solely by the vote of Owners other than Declarant may be removed from office prior to the expiration of his term of office only by the vote of at least a simple majority of the voting power residing in Owners other than Declarant. After termination of the Period of Declarant Control, the Management Committee shall be elected as provided in the Bylaws.

12. RESTRICTIONS ON USE

The Lots, Dwellings, Buildings, Furnishings, and Common Areas, including but not limited to the Limited Common Areas, and all other portions of the Project, except as otherwise permitted in writing by the Board, shall be used in accordance with the following restrictions:

12.1 Except as otherwise provided in this Declaration, all Lots shall be used, improved, and devoted exclusively to single family residential use. No commercial trade or business may be conducted in or from any Lot unless: (a) the existence or operation of the business activity is not apparent or detectable by sight, sound, or smell from outside the residence; (b) the business activity conforms to all zoning requirements for the Project; (c) the business activity does not involve (i) persons coming onto the Project who do not reside in the Project or (ii) door-to-door solicitation of residents of the Project; and (d) the business activity is consistent with the

residential character of the Project and does not constitute a. nuisance, or a hazardous or offensive use, or threaten the security or safety of other residents of the Project, as may be determined in the sole discretion of the Management Committee. Anything to the contrary notwithstanding, the leasing of a residence shall not be considered a trade or business within the meaning of this subsection.

- No improvements, alterations, repairs, excavation or other work which in any way alters the exterior appearance of any Dwelling within the Project or any other improvements on a Lot thereon from its natural or improved state existing on the date such Lot was first conveyed by Declarant to an Owner shall be made without the prior approval of the Management Committee, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Declaration. No building, fence, wall, or other structure shall be erected, maintained, improved, altered, made or done (including choice of exterior color scheme and building materials) without the prior written approval of the Management Committee. Pursuant to its rulemaking power, the Management Committee shall establish a procedure for the preparation, submission, and determination of applications for any such alteration or improvement. The Management Committee shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to refuse to approve any plans, specifications or grading plans, which are not suitable or desirable, for aesthetic or other reasons, and in so passing upon such plans, specifications and grading plans, and without any limitation of the foregoing, it shall have the right to take into consideration the suitability of the proposed building or other structure, and of the materials of which it is to be built, the site upon which such proposed building or structure is proposed to be erected, the harmony thereof with the surroundings and the effect of the building or other structure as planned, on the outlook from adjacent or neighboring property. No changes or deviations in or from such plans and specifications once approved shall be made without the prior written approval of the Management Committee.
- 12.3 All Areas of Private Responsibility contained within the boundaries of any Lot shall be maintained by the Owner of such Lot so as not to become a nuisance or eye sore.
- 12.4 No garbage or trash shall be placed or kept on any Lot or other portion of the Property except in covered sanitary containers. In no event shall such containers be maintained so as to be Visible from Neighboring Property except to make same the available for collection and, then, only visible for the shortest time reasonably necessary to effect such collection. All rubbish, trash, or garbage shall be removed from the Lots and shall not be allowed to accumulate thereon. No incinerators shall be kept or maintained on any Lot.
- 12.5 No tree, shrub, or planting of any kind on any Lot shall be allowed to overhang or otherwise to encroach upon any other Lot or the Common Area from ground level to a height of twelve (12) feet, without the prior approval of the Management Committee.
- 12.6 No machinery or equipment of any kind shall be placed, operated or maintained upon any Lot except usual and customary equipment and machinery used in connection with the use, maintenance or construction of permitted improvements, and except that which the Management Committee may require for the operation and maintenance of the Areas of Common Responsibility. Slides, playground equipment, basketball poles and hoops, outdoor decks, gazebos and other such equipment or structures shall be allowed provided they are approved by the Management Committee.

13

- 12.7 No Lot shall be further subdivided or separated into smaller Lots or parcels by any Owner, and no portion less than all of any such Lot, shall be conveyed or transferred by any Owner, without the prior written approval of the Management Committee. No Lot may be converted into a condominium or cooperative or other similar type of entity without the prior written approval of the Management Committee. No further covenants, conditions, restrictions or easements shall be recorded against any Lot without the written consent of the Management Committee being evidenced on the recorded instrument containing such restrictions, and without such approval any such, restrictions shall be null and void. No applications for rezoning, variances, or use permits shall be filed without the written approval of the Management Committee and then only if such proposed use is in compliance with this Declaration.
- 12.8 No sign of any nature (other than a name and address sign, not exceeding 9" x 30" in size) shall be permitted on any Lot; provided, however, that one sign of not more than five square feet may be temporarily erected or placed on a Lot for the purpose of advertising the Lot for sale or rent; and provided further the Declarant or its designee or assignee may erect any signs during construction. These restrictions shall not apply to the Management Committee in furtherance of its powers and purposes herein set forth.
- 12.9 There is hereby created a blanket easement upon, across, over and under the Common Areas and all Lots within the Project for ingress, egress, installation, replacing, repairing and maintaining all utility and service lines and systems, including, but not limited to, storm drain water, sewer, gas, telephone, electricity, television cable or communication lines and systems, etc. By virtue of this easement, it shall be expressly permissible for the providing utility or service company to install and maintain facilities and equipment, and to affix and maintain wires, circuits and conduits on, in and under roofs and exterior walls. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this paragraph, no sewers, electrical lines, water lines, or other utilities or service lines may be installed or relocated except as initially developed and approved by the Declarant or thereafter approved by the Management Committee. This easement shall in no way affect any other recorded easements.
- 12.10 No temporary building, structure or vehicle of any kind shall be used as a residence, either temporary or permanent. Temporary buildings or structures used during construction periods shall be removed immediately after completion of such construction.
- 12.11 No rubbish or debris of any kind shall be placed or permitted to accumulate upon or adjacent to a Lot and no odors or loud noises shall be permitted to arise or emit therefrom, so as to create a nuisance, render any such Lot or any portion thereof or activity thereon unsanitary, unsightly, offensive or detrimental to any other Lot or person in the vicinity thereof. Without limiting the generality of any of the foregoing provisions, no speakers, horns, whistles, bells or other sound devices, except security devices used exclusively for security purposes, shall be located, used, or placed on any Lot. No motorcycles or motor driven vehicles (except lawn maintenance equipment) shall be operated on any walkways or sidewalks within the Project. The Management Committee in its sole discretion shall have the right to determine the existence of any violation of this Section, and its determination shall be final and enforceable as provided herein. Normal construction activities shall not be considered a nuisance or otherwise prohibited by this Declaration, but Lots shall be kept in a neat and tidy condition during construction

periods. Supplies or building materials and construction equipment shall be stored only in such areas and in such manner as may be approved by the Management Committee or the Declarant.

- 12.12 Outside clotheslines or other outside facilities for drying or airing clothes shall not be erected, placed or maintained within the Project, unless they are erected, placed and maintained exclusively within a fenced service yard or otherwise so as not to be Visible from Neighboring Property.
- 12.13 No portion of the Project shall be used in any manner to explore for or to remove any water, oil or other hydrocarbons, or minerals of any kind.
- 12.14 No Owner or resident shall permit any thing or condition to exist upon the Property which shall induce, breed or harbor infectious plant diseases or noxious insects.
- 12.15 The rights and duties of Owners with respect to party walls or party fences shall be as follows:
- 12.15.1 Owners of contiguous Lots who have a party wall or party fence shall both equally have the right to use such wall or fence, provided that such use does not interfere with the use and enjoyment thereof by the other Owner.
- 12.15.2 In the event that any party wall or party fence is damaged or destroyed through the act of an Owner, his agents, guests, or family members, it shall be the obligation of such Owner to rebuild and repair the party wall or party fence without cost to the other adjoining Lot Owner or Owners.
- 12.15.3 In the event any party wall or party fence is destroyed or damaged (including deterioration from ordinary wear and tear and lapse of time) other than by the act of an Owner, his agents, guests or family members, it shall be the joint obligation of all Owners whose Lots adjoin such wall or fence to rebuild and repair such wall or fence, such expense to be divided among the Owners in accordance with frontage of their Lot on the party wall or party fence.
- 12.15.4 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained, there shall be no impairment of the structural integrity of any party wall or party fence without the prior written consent of the Management Committee.
- 12.15.5 In the event of a dispute between Owners with respect to the construction, repair or rebuilding of a party wall or party fence or the sharing of the cost thereof, such adjoining Owners shall submit the dispute to the Management Committee, the decision of which shall be final and enforceable.
- 12.15.6 Each Owner shall permit the Owners of adjoining Lots, or their representatives, when reasonably required, to enter his Lot for the purpose of repairing or maintaining a party wall or fence or for the purpose of performing installations, alterations or repairs to the Lot of such adjoining Owners, provided that requests for entry are made in advance and that such entry is at a time reasonably convenient to the Owner. In case of an emergency,

such right of entry shall be immediate. An adjoining Owner making entry pursuant to the terms of this paragraph shall not be deemed guilty of trespass by reason of such entry.

- 12.15.7 Surfaces of party walls or party fences which are generally accessible or viewable from only the adjoining Lot may be planted against, painted, maintained and used by the adjoining Owners. If such surfaces are viewable from public streets or the Open Space, the color scheme shall not be changed without the written consent of the Management Committee.
- 12.15.8 Any Lot which has a wall adjacent to any Common Area and which wall separates the Lot from the Common Area shall be considered to have a party wall with the Association and the provisions of this Section 12.15 apply as though the Common Area were an adjacent Lot.
- 12.15.9 The Owners of Lots with a wall adjacent to a street, or adjoining property other than Lots or Common Area within the Project, shall be solely responsible for repair and maintenance of such walls, and if repair is necessary, the repaired wall must match the size, color, and texture of the existing adjacent walls within the Project.
- 12.15.10 Water damage to a party wall due to sprinkler overflow or installed planters against the party wall shall be the responsibility of the party who created the damage.
- 12.16 There is hereby created a blanket easement for drainage of surface water runoff on, over and across the Common Areas. No Owner shall obstruct, divert, alter or interfere with any portion of the Project that results in the obstruction, diversion, alteration or interference of any drainage of surface water runoff on, over and across the Common Areas. Each Owner shall at his own expense maintain the drainage ways and channels on his Lot in proper condition free from obstruction.
- 12.17 During reasonable hours and upon reasonable notice to the Owner or resident of a Lot, any authorized representative of the Management Committee shall have the right to enter upon and inspect any Lot or improvements thereon, except for the interior portions of any completed improvements, to determine if the improvements are in compliance with this Declaration. Any such persons shall not be deemed guilty of trespass by reason of such entry.
- 12.18 In the event uses, activities and facilities are deemed by the Management Committee to be a nuisance or to adversely affect the health, safety or welfare of Owners or residents, the Management Committee may establish Rules restricting or regulating their presence.
- 12.19 Nothing contained in this Declaration shall be construed to prevent the erection or maintenance by Declarant, or its duly authorized agents, of improvements or signs necessary or convenient to the development or sale of Lots within the Property.
- 12.20 The pursuit of hobbies or other activities, including but not limited to the assembly and disassembly of motor vehicles and other mechanical devices which might tend to cause disorderly, unsightly, or unkept conditions, shall not be pursued or undertaken on any part of the Project.

12.21 The use of firearms and incendiary devices, or the painting of graffiti, within the Project is prohibited. The term firearms includes but is not limited to all guns, pistols, handguns, rifles, automatic weapons, semi-automatic weapons, BB guns, pellet guns, paintball guns, sling shots, wrist-rockets, blow-dart guns, and other firearms of all types, regardless of size.

-- - - - -

- 12.22 No Owner or resident shall place upon any part of the Project any temporary structures including but not limited to trailers or sheds, without the prior written consent of the Management Committee. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Declaration, during the Period of Declarant Control, Declarant may install and use temporary structures in the development of the Project and marketing of the Lots.
- 12.23 All Property located at or near driveways, entrances, exits, walkways, paths and street intersections or corners shall be landscaped so as to remove any obstructions and to permit safe sight. No fence, wall, hedge, shrub, bush, tree or monument, real or artificial, shall be planted or placed by an Owner or resident in, on or about the Common Areas without the prior written consent of the Management Committee. The Management Committee may alter or remove any objects planted or placed in violation of this subsection.
- 12.24 No solar energy collector panels, other energy conservation equipment or attendant hardware shall be constructed or installed on the Project without the prior written consent of the Management Committee.
- 12.25 The driving, parking, standing and storing of motor vehicles in, on, or about the Project shall be subject to the following:
- 12.25.1 The parking rules and regulations adopted by the Management Committee from time to time shall be strictly obeyed;
- 12.25.2 Except for purposes of loading or unloading passengers or supplies (for a period of time up to twenty-four (24) hours), no recreational, commercial or oversized vehicle parking is allowed in the Project. Cement pads on Lots to park or store said vehicles are prohibited;
- 12.25.3 No overnight parking on the street is allowed in the Project, except as allowed in the parking rules and regulations adopted by the Management Committee from time to time;
- 12.25.4 No motor vehicle or trailer, including but not limited to any car, automobile, truck, van, or any other transportation device of any kind may be parked or stationed in such a manner so as to block access to any Lot, Building or parking space, or to create an obstacle or potentially dangerous situation;
- 12.25.5 No resident shall repair or restore any vehicle of any kind in, on, or about any Lot or the Common Areas, except for routine maintenance or emergency repairs, and then only to the extent necessary to enable movement thereof to a proper repair facility;
- 12.25.6 No garage may be altered in such a manner that the number of motor vehicles which may reasonably be parked therein after the alteration is less than the number of

motor vehicles that could have been reasonably parked in the garage as originally designed and constructed;

- 12.25.7 Garage doors shall remain closed except when the garage is in use; and
- 12.25.8 Vehicles parked in violation of this Declaration may be impounded or towed without further notice, and at the Owner's sole risk and expense.
- 12.26 Antennas and satellite dishes shall be prohibited within the Property, except (a) antennas or satellite dishes designed to receive direct broadcast satellite service which are one meter or less in diameter or diagonal measurement; (b) antennas or satellite dishes designed to receive video programming services via multipoint distribution services which are one meter or less in diameter or diagonal measurement; or (c) antennas or satellite dishes which are one meter or less in diameter or diagonal measurement designed to receive television broadcast signals (collectively referred to herein as "Permitted Devices") shall be permitted, provided that any such Permitted Device is:
- 12.26.1 located in the attic, crawl space, garage, or other interior spaces of the dwelling or another approved structure on the Lot so as not to be visible from outside the dwelling or other structure;
- 12.26.2 located within a Lot and setback from all Lot lines at least eight (8) feet;
- 12.26.3 attached to or mounted on a deck or patio and extending no higher than the eaves of the portion of the roof of the dwelling directly in front of such antenna; or
- 12.26.4 attached to or mounted on the rear wall of the dwelling so as to extend no higher than the eaves of the dwelling at a point directly above the position where attached or mounted to the wall.
- 12.27 Domestic pets may be allowed in accordance with pet rules and regulators adopted or changed from time to time by the Management Committee, which pet rules and regulations may limit or control the numbers and types of pets which may be kept within the Project. Residents with pet(s) must abide by the pet rules and regulations adopted by the Management Committee from time to time. No pets, animals, livestock or poultry of any kind shall be bred in, on, or about the Project. Pets which constitute a nuisance will not be allowed in the Project. Pets outside the Dwelling Unit must be in a fenced yard or kept on a leash or in a cage at all times. All city ordinances and regulations concerning pets will also be followed by the Owners and residents of the Project. Dogs which bark, whine, howl or scratch unreasonably, or pets running loose in the Common Areas and not in a cage or on a leash and under the control of the owner, or pets whose owners do not immediately clean up after them, or pets in violation of any city ordinance or regulation, or pets which threaten any Owner, resident, guest or invitee with physical harm shall be deemed to constitute a nuisance.
- 12.28 Nothing shall be done or kept in, on, or about any Lot or the Common Areas which may result in the cancellation of the insurance on any portion of the Project or an increase

in the premium for the insurance for the Common Areas of the Project paid by the Management Committee.

- 12.29 No damage to, or waste of, the Common Areas shall be committed by any Owner or any invitee of any Owner, and each Owner shall indemnify, defend and hold the Management Committee and the other Owners harmless from and against all loss resulting from any such damage or waste caused by that Owner or an invitee.
- 12.30 No structural alterations to any Building, Dwelling or the Common Areas is allowed without the prior written consent of the Management Committee, in order to insure uniformity of appearance and quality of construction consistent with the architectural guidelines adopted and established from time to time by the Management Committee.
- 12.31 The original mail boxes provided by the Declarant that benefit the Lots cannot be removed or replaced without the written approval of the Management Committee.
- 12.32 No signs, flags or advertising devices of any nature, including without limitation political, informational or directional signs or devices, shall be erected or maintained on any part of the Project, except as may be necessary temporarily to caution or warn of danger or except as may be used by Declarant as part of its sales program or as approved by the Board.
- 12.33 The draperies, shades and other interior window coverings in Dwellings located on the Lots shall present a uniform appearance from the outside of the Lots. The Management Committee shall have the right to establish rules requiring window coverings to present a uniform appearance from the exterior of the Dwellings within the Project. Owners shall not erect or display any signs, banners or similar items on, from or in their Lots or their Dwellings within the Project without the prior written consent of the Management Committee.
- 12.34 There shall be no obstruction of the Common Areas by any Owner. Owners shall neither store nor leave any of their property in the Common Areas, other than Limited Common Areas appurtenant to their Lots, except with the prior written consent of the Management Committee.
- 12.35 Nothing shall be done or kept in any Lot or in the Common Areas or any part thereof that would result in cancellation of the insurance on the Project or any part thereof, nor shall anything be done or kept in any Lot that would increase the rate of insurance on the Project or any part thereof over what the Association, but for such activity, would pay, without the prior written consent of the Management Committee. Nothing shall be done or kept in any Lot or Dwelling or in the Common Areas or any part thereof that would be in violation of any statute or rule, ordinance, regulation, permit, or other validly imposed requirement of any governmental body. No damage to, or waste of, any of the Buildings, Lots or Dwellings within the Project, the Common Areas or any part thereof shall be committed by any Owner or guest, lessee, licensee, or invitee of any Owner, and each Owner shall indemnify, defend and hold the Association and the other Owners harmless from and against all loss resulting from any such damage or waste caused by him or his guests, lessees, licensees, or invitees.
- 12.36 No Owner shall violate the Rules as adopted from time to time by the Association.

13. ASSOCIATION AND MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- 13.1 The management and maintenance of the Project and the administration of the affairs of the Association shall be conducted by a Management Committee consisting of five (5) natural persons as provided in the Bylaws. The Management Committee and the officers of the Association shall be elected, appointed, removed and replaced as provided in this Declaration and in the Bylaws.
- 13.2 Except as otherwise provided herein, the Management Committee shall have all the powers, duties and responsibilities as are now or may hereafter be provided by this Declaration and the Bylaws, including but not limited to the following:
- 13.2.1 To make and enforce all Rules covering the operation, use and maintenance of the Project, the Lots, the Dwellings, the Buildings, the Common Areas, and the Limited Common Areas.
- 13.2.2 To engage the services of the Manager, accountants, attorneys, or other employees or agents and to pay to said persons a reasonable compensation therefor.
- 13.2.3 To operate, maintain, repair, improve and replace the Areas of Common Responsibility.
 - To operate, maintain, repair, improve and replace the Common Areas.
 - 13.2.5 To determine and pay the Common Expenses.
- 13.2.6 To assess and collect the proportionate share of Common Expenses from the Owners, as provided in Section 20 herein.
- 13.2.7 To grant easements and licenses and enter into contracts, deeds, leases, and/or other written instruments or documents and to authorize the execution and delivery thereof by the appropriate officers.
- 13.2.8 To open bank accounts and borrow money on behalf of the Association and to designate the signatories therefor.
- 13.2.9 To purchase, hold, sell, convey, mortgage or lease any one or more Lots in the name of the Association or its designee.
- 13.2.10 To bring, prosecute and settle litigation for itself, the Association and the Project.
- 13.2.11 To obtain insurance for the Association with respect to the Buildings, the Common Areas, and the Areas of Common Responsibility, workers' compensation insurance, and any other insurance it deems necessary or appropriate to protect the Owners and the Association.

- 13.2.12 To repair or restore the Project following damage or destruction or a permanent taking by the power of or power in the nature of eminent domain or by an action or deed in lieu of condemnation.
- 13.2.13 To own, purchase or lease, hold and sell or otherwise dispose of, on behalf of the Owners, items of personal property necessary to or convenient to the management of the business and affairs of the Association and the Management Committee and to the operation of the Project, including without limitation furniture, furnishings, fixtures, maintenance equipment, appliances and office supplies.
- 13.2.14 To keep adequate books and records and implement the policies and procedures for the inspection of the books and records of the Project by Owners in accordance with the terms of the Bylaws.
- 13.2.15 To do all other acts necessary for the operation and maintenance of the Project, including the maintenance and repair of any Lot or Building if the same is necessary to protect or preserve the Project.
- 13.2.16 To prepare, adopt, amend and disseminate budgets and other information from time to time in accordance with the terms of the Bylaws.
- 13.2.17 To grant easements and rights-of-way over the Common Areas and to approve signage for the Project and enter into contracts with other entities. Such contracts may, among other things, obligate the Association to pay assessments and other costs associated with the maintenance of roads and other amenities that benefit the Association.
- 13.2.18 Subject to the limitations of any applicable law, the Management Committee may delegate to the Manager by written agreement all of the foregoing powers, duties and responsibilities referred to in this Section 13.2.
- 13.2.19 The Management Committee may convey or subject to a Mortgage all or portions of the Common Areas of the Project, if authorized by the Owners entitled to cast a majority of the Total Votes of the Association. However, all Owners of Lots to which any Limited Common Areas are appurtenant must agree to convey those Limited Common Areas or subject the same to the Mortgage. Any such agreement shall comply with all other applicable provisions of the Act.
- 13.2.20 Members of the Management Committee, the officers and any assistant officers, agents and employees of the Association (i) shall not be liable to the Owners as a result of their activities as such for any mistake of judgment, negligence, or otherwise, except for their own willful misconduct or bad faith; (ii) shall have no personal liability in contract to an Owner or any other person or entity under any agreement, instrument or transaction entered into by them on behalf of the Association in their capacity as such; (iii) shall have no personal liability in tort to any Owner or any person or entity, direct or imputed, by virtue of acts performed by them, except for their own willful misconduct or bad faith, nor for acts performed for them in their capacity as such; and (iv) shall have no personal liability arising out of the use, misuse or condition of the Project, which might in any way be assessed against or imputed to them as a result of or by virtue of their capacity as such.

531334.4 21

- 13.2.21 When a member of the Management Committee is sued for liability for actions undertaken in his role as a member of the Management Committee, the Association shall indemnify him for his losses or claims, and undertake all costs of defense, until and unless it is proven that he acted with willful or wanton misfeasance or with gross negligence. After such proof, the Association is no longer liable for the cost of defense and may recover costs already expended from the member of the Management Committee who so acted. Members of the Management Committee are not personally liable to the victims of crimes occurring at the Project. Punitive damages may not be recovered against the Association, but may be recovered from persons whose activity gave rise to the damages.
- 13.3 Neither the Management Committee nor the Manager shall sell any property of the Association except as permitted by the Articles, the Bylaws and this Declaration.
- 13.4 The Management Committee may enter into a contract with the Manager for the management of the Project. Such contract shall comply with the requirements of Section 13.2 hereof as applicable to the Project.
- 13.5 The Association, acting through the Management Committee, shall make available to prospective purchasers of Lots within the Project current copies of this Declaration, the Articles, the Bylaws, the Rules, and other rules and regulations adopted by the Management Committee governing or pertaining to the Project, and the most recent audited financial statement of the Association, if an audited financial statement is prepared. As used in this Section 13.5, the term "available" shall at least mean available for inspection, upon request, during normal business hours or under other reasonable circumstances.
- 13.6 Declarant shall not bind the Association, either directly or indirectly, to any of the following agreements, unless the Association shall have a right of termination thereof which is exercisable without penalty at any time after the expiration of the Period of Declarant Control, upon not more than 90 days' notice to the other party thereto:
- (a) any management contract, employment contract, or lease of recreational or parking areas or facilities; or
- (b) any contract or lease, including franchises and licenses, to which Declarant is a party.

14. MAINTENANCE, ALTERATION AND IMPROVEMENT

14.1 The maintenance, repair and replacement of the Areas of Common Responsibility within the Project, shall be the responsibility of the Association, and the cost thereof shall be a Common Expense. The Association shall also maintain, repair and replace all central facilities for the furnishing of gas, light, power, water and sewer service, including all main water lines and main sewer lines located within the Project and all lateral water lines and sewer lines running from the main lines to the point such laterals enter a Building on a Lot. All incidental damages caused to a Lot by the maintenance, replacement and repair of the Areas of Common Responsibility or utility services shall be repaired promptly and the cost thereof charged as a Common Expense.

22 ·

- 14.2 Some of the Areas of Common Responsibility are or may be located within a Lot or a Building or may be conveniently accessible only through a Lot. The Association shall have the irrevocable right to have access to each Lot and to all Areas of Common Responsibility from time to time during such reasonable hours as may be necessary for the cleaning, repair or replacement of any Areas of Common Responsibility or for making any emergency repairs at any time and when necessary to prevent damage to the Areas of Common Responsibility or to any Lot or Dwelling. The Association shall also have the irrevocable right to have access to any Lot or Dwelling when necessary in connection with any cleaning, maintenance, repair, replacement, painting, landscaping, construction or reconstruction for which the Association is responsible or for the purpose of abating a nuisance or a known or suspected dangerous or unlawful condition. Such entry shall be made with as little inconvenience to the Owners as is practicable under the circumstances and any damage caused thereby shall be repaired by the Association.
- 14.3 Each Owner shall maintain, repair and replace, as needed from time to time, such Owner's Area of Personal Responsibility, which shall include:
 - all windows, doors and all interior areas of such Owner's Dwelling;
- 14.3.2 all electrical and mechanical systems within each Owner's Dwelling, including without limitation power, telephone, gas, water, sewer, heating and air conditioning systems;
- 14.3.3 all fixtures, furnishings, windows, doors, porches, landings, patios, balconies and decks, garage doors and garage door systems located in each Owner's Dwelling and in any Private Garage Easement that is appurtenant to such Owner's Dwelling;
 - 14.3.4 the interior surface of the fence surrounding each Owner's Lot;
 - 14.3.5 all portions of such Owner's Lot;
 - 14.3.6 the steps, porch and landing at the entry to each Owner's Lot; and
- 14.3.7 all of the other non-landscaped improvements constructed or installed in, under or above each Owner's Lot, unless otherwise determined in writing by the Management Committee.

15. INSURANCE

- 15.1 Commencing not later than the time of the first conveyance of a Lot to an Owner other than Declarant, the Association shall maintain, to the extent reasonably available, insurance as follows:
- 15.1.1 The Association shall maintain property insurance on the structural portions of all Buildings (but excluding Furnishings) Common Areas, including any fixtures and personal property owned by the Association, insuring against all risks of direct physical loss commonly insured against, including fire and extended coverage perils. Furthermore, any fixtures, equipment or other personal property within Lots financed by a mortgage to be

purchased by FNMA or FHLMC shall be insured by such policy. All such insurance policies shall have the standard Mortgagee clause and provide for notice to the Mortgagee at least ten days before lapse, material modification or cancellation of the policy. The total amount of insurance, without regard to any deductibles, shall be not less than one hundred percent (100%) of the replacement value of the insured property at the time the insurance is purchased and at each renewal date, exclusive of land, excavations, foundations and other items normally excluded from property policies. In addition, the Association shall obtain, if available, an Inflation Guard Endorsement, an Agreed Amount Endorsement, a Steam Boiler and Machinery Coverage Endorsement (with minimum liability of \$2,000,000 per accident) if the Project has a steam boiler, either a Guaranteed Replacement Cost Endorsement or a Replacement Cost Endorsement, and a Building Ordinance or Law Endorsement.

- 15.1.2 The Association shall maintain liability insurance in an amount determined by the Management Committee but not less than \$5,000,000 for all claims of personal injury, death and/or property damage arising out of a single occurrence pertaining to property damage in each occurrence covering all occurrences commonly insured against for death, bodily injury and property damage arising out of or in connection with the use, ownership or maintenance of the Lots, Dwellings, Buildings and the Common Areas. Such insurance policy shall contain a "severability of interest" endorsement which shall preclude the insurer from denying the claim of an Owner because of negligent acts of the Association, its committee members, its officers or the Owners. The scope of coverage must include all other coverage in the kinds and amounts required by private institutional mortgage investors for similar projects in location, construction and use.
- 15.1.3 Such other insurance in types and amounts as determined from time to time by the Management Committee.
- 15.2 The insurance maintained under Section 15 shall include the Lots, Dwellings, and Buildings but need not include improvements and betterments installed by Owners or the Furnishings or personal property of Owners. The Association may carry any other insurance it deems appropriate to protect the Association or the Owners.
- 15.3 Where applicable, insurance policies carried by the Association shall provide the following:
- 15.3.1 Each Owner, or the Association, as agent for each of the Owners, shall be an insured person under the policy with respect to liability or loss arising out of his interest in the Buildings, the Common Areas or membership in the Association.
- 15.3.2 The insurer waives its right to subrogation under the policy against any Owner or members of his household.
- 15.3.3 No act or omission by any Owner, unless acting within the scope of his authority on behalf of the Association, will void the policy or operate as a condition to recovery under the policy by another person.

- 15.3.4 If, at the time of a loss under the policy, there is other insurance in the name of an Owner covering the same property covered by the policy, then the Association's policy provides primary insurance.
- 15.3.5 All Owners as a class shall be named as additional insureds in any policy issued to the Association.
 - 15.3.6 The insurer shall acknowledge the insurance trust agreement, if any.
- 15.4 An insurance policy issued to the Association shall not prevent an Owner from obtaining insurance for his own benefit.
- 15.5 Any loss covered by the property policy under Sections 15.1.1 shall be adjusted with the Association, but the insurance proceeds for that loss shall be payable to an insurance trustee designated for that purpose by the Association and not to the Association or any Mortgagee. The insurance trustee shall hold any insurance proceeds in trust for the Association, Owners and Mortgagees as their interests may appear. The Association or the trustee, as applicable, on behalf of and as trustee for all Owners and Mortgagees, individually and collectively, shall have the authority to adjust losses with respect to insurance secured and maintained by the Association, to pursue claims, negotiate and settle claims, and to enter into agreements relative to the same, and each Owner shall be deemed to have appointed the Association or the trustee, as applicable, as an attorney-in-fact for such purpose. Subject to the provisions of Section 16 of this Declaration, the proceeds shall be disbursed first for the repair or restoration of the damaged property, and the Association, Owners, and Mortgagees shall not be entitled to receive payment of any portion of the proceeds, unless there is a surplus of proceeds after the property has been completely repaired or restored, or the Project is terminated.
- 15.6 An insurer that has issued an insurance policy under this Section shall issue certificates or memoranda of insurance to the Association and, on written request, to any Owner or Mortgagee. The insurer issuing the policy shall not cancel or refuse to renew it until thirty (30) days after notice of the proposed cancellation or nonrenewal has been mailed to the Association, each Owner, and each Mortgagee to whom a certificate or memorandum of insurance has been issued at their respective last known addresses.
- 15.7 This Section does not prohibit the Management Committee from acquiring additional or greater amounts of coverage as it reasonably deems appropriate.
- 15.8 The Management Committee shall require the Manager to obtain and maintain fidelity bonding of the Manager and employees of the Association having control of, or access to, the funds of the Association with loss coverage ordinarily not less than the maximum amount of funds of the Association over which the principal(s) under the bond may reasonably be expected to have control or access at any time. The bonding company shall not cancel or refuse to renew the fidelity bond until thirty (30) days after notice of the proposed cancellation or nonrenewal has been mailed to the Association, each Owner, and each Mortgagee to whom a certificate or memorandum of insurance has been issued at their respective last known addresses. The bonding agreement shall require ten (10) days written notice to the Association or the

insurance trustee prior to the delivery of the same notice to each servicer that services a FNMA-owned or FNMA-securitized mortgage in the Project.

All insurance policies shall be written by a company holding a "B" or better general policyholder's rating or a "6" or better financial performance index rating in Best's Insurance Reports, an "A" or better general policyholder's rating and a financial size category of "VIII" or better in Best's Insurance Reports - International Edition, an "A" or better rating in Demotech's Hazard Insurance Financial Stability Ratings, a "BBBq" qualified solvency ratio or a "BBB" or better claims-paying ability rating in Standard and Poor's Insurer Solvency Review, or a "BBB" or better claims-paying ability rating in Standard and Poor's International Confidential Rating Service. Each insurer must be specifically licensed to transact business within the State of Utah. Policies are unacceptable where (a) under the terms of the carrier's charter, bylaws or policy, contributions or assessments may be made against the Association, any Owners or a Mortgagee; (b) by the terms of the carrier's charter, bylaws or policy, loss payments are contingent upon action by the carrier's board of directors, policy holders, or members; or (c) the policy includes any limiting clauses (other than insurance conditions) which could prevent a Mortgagee or the Association from collecting insurance proceeds. The maximum deductible amount for policies covering Lots, Dwellings, Buildings and Common Areas shall be the lesser of \$10,000 or 1% of the policy face amount.

16. <u>DESTRUCTION OR DAMAGE</u>

- 16.1 In case of fire or any other disaster that causes damage or destruction to all or part of the Project, the Management Committee, with the help of an independent appraiser, shall determine the percentage that was destroyed or substantially damaged. If less than two-thirds (2/3) of the Project was destroyed or substantially damaged, the Management Committee shall arrange for the prompt repair and restoration thereof, using the proceeds of insurance on the Project for that purpose, and the Owners shall be liable for assessment for any deficiency in proportion to their respective ownership interests in the Common Areas. Reconstruction of the Project shall mean restoring to substantially the same condition existing prior to the damage or destruction, with each Lot and the Common Areas having the same boundaries as before, unless the destruction or damage is by reason of eminent domain, in which event the provisions of Section 17 hereof shall apply.
- 16.2 If two-thirds (2/3) or more of the Project is destroyed or substantially damaged, the Management Committee shall, within one hundred (100) days after such destruction or damage, call a special meeting of the Association for the purpose of deciding whether or not the Project shall be repaired and restored. If Owners holding three fourths (3/4) or more of the Total Votes of the Association in the Project, in person or by proxy, vote to repair or restore the Project, the Management Committee shall promptly arrange for the reconstruction of the Project using the proceeds of insurance therefrom for that purpose, and the Owners shall be liable for assessment for any deficiency in proportion to their respective ownership interest in the Common Areas. If the destruction or damage is by reason of eminent domain, the provisions of Section 17 hereof shall apply. At such election, if Owners holding three-fourths (3/4) or more of the Total Votes of the Association do not vote either in person or by proxy to make provision for reconstruction, the net proceeds of the insurance on the Project for each Building that has been destroyed or substantially damaged, shall be considered as one fund and shall be divided among

all Owners whose Dwellings are located within such Building that has been destroyed or substantially damaged, after first paying out of the respective shares of the Owners, to the extent sufficient for such purposes, all sums necessary to satisfy liens on the Lot and Dwelling owned by each Owner.

17. <u>EMINENT DOMAIN</u>

- 17.1 Whenever any proceeding is instituted that could result in the temporary or permanent taking, injury or destruction of all or part of the Common Areas or one or more Lots or portions thereof by the exercise of the power of or power in the nature of eminent domain or by an action or deed in lieu of condemnation, the Management Committee and each Owner shall be entitled to notice thereof and the Management Committee shall, and the Owners at their respective expense may, participate in the proceedings incident thereto. The Management Committee, on behalf of all Owners, individually and collectively, shall have the authority to represent the Association and all Owners and in such regard shall represent their interests in proceedings, negotiations, settlement and agreements, and each Owner shall be deemed to have appointed the Management Committee as attorney-in-fact for such purpose.
- 17.2 With respect to the Common Areas or Limited Common Areas, any damages or awards shall be determined for such taking, injury or destruction as a whole and not for each Owner's interest therein. After such determination, each Owner shall be entitled to a share in the damages in the same proportion as his ownership interest in the Common Areas. This provision does not prohibit a majority of the Owners from authorizing the Management Committee to use such damages or awards for replacing or restoring the Common Areas so taken on the remaining land or on other acquired land, provided that this Declaration and the Plat are duly amended.
- 17.3 With respect to one or more Lots or portions thereof, the damages or awards for such taking shall be deemed to be proceeds from insurance on account of damages or destruction pursuant to Section 16 above and shall be deposited with the Management Committee as trustee and thereafter used and distributed as provided in Section 16. Even though the damage or awards may be payable to one or more Owners, the Owners shall deposit the damages or awards with the Management Committee as trustee. In the event an Owner refuses to so deposit his award with the Management Committee, then at the option of the Management Committee, either a special assessment shall be made against the defaulting Owner and his Lot in the amount of this award or the amount of such award shall be set off against the sum hereafter made payable to such Owner.
- 17.4 In the event the provisions of Section 16.2 are brought into effect, as provided in Section 16.2 above, the proceeds of the damages or awards shall be distributed or used in accordance with Section 16.2 above.
- 17.5 If one or more Lots are taken, in whole or in part, and the provisions of Section 16.2 are brought into effect, the taking shall have the following effects:
- 17.5.1 If the taking reduces the size of a Lot and the remaining portion of the Lot may be made tenantable, the Lot shall be made tenantable. If the cost of such work exceeds the amount of the award, the additional funds required shall be assessed against the Owners of

531334.4 27

the Lot. The balance of the award, if any, shall be distributed to the Mortgagee of such Lot, to the extent of the unpaid balance of its Mortgage, and the excess, if any, shall be distributed to the Owner of such Lot.

- 17.5.2 If the taking destroys or so reduces the size of a Lot that it cannot be made tenantable, the award shall be distributed to the Mortgagee of such Lot to the extent of the unpaid balance of its Mortgage and the excess, if any, shall be distributed to the Owner of such Lot. The remaining portion of such Lot, if any, shall become a part of the Common Areas and shall be placed in condition for use by all Owners in the manner approved by the Management Committee. The ownership interest in the Common Areas and Facilities appurtenant to the Lots that continue as part of the Project shall be adjusted, accordingly to the formula set forth in Section 7 of this Declaration, to distribute the ownership of the Common Areas among the reduced number of Owners.
- 17.6 Changes in Lots, in the Common Areas, and in the ownership of the Common Areas that are affected by the taking referred to in this Section 17 shall be evidenced by an Amendment to this Declaration and the Plat, which need not be approved by the Owners.

18. MORTGAGEE PROTECTION

- 18.1 The Management Committee shall maintain a roster of Owners, which roster shall include the mailing addresses of all Owners. The Management Committee will also maintain a roster containing the name and address of each First Mortgagee of a Lot, if the Management Committee is provided notice of such First Mortgage by way of a certified copy of the recorded instrument evidencing the First Mortgage and containing the name and address of the First Mortgagee and a statement that the Mortgage is a First Mortgage. The First Mortgagee shall be stricken from the roster upon request by such First Mortgagee or upon receipt by the Management Committee of a certified copy of a recorded release or satisfaction of the First Mortgage. Notice of such removal shall be given to the First Mortgagee unless the removal is requested by the First Mortgagee.
- 18.2 The Management Committee shall give to any First Mortgagee on the roster written notification of any default by the mortgagor of the respective Lot in the performance of such mortgagor's obligations under this Declaration that remains uncured for sixty (60) consecutive days. Furthermore, the Management Committee shall provide any First Mortgagee with any written notice as described in Section 18.6 below, upon First Mortgagee's written request for such notice (such request to include the number of the Lot securing the First Mortgage).
- 18.3 A First Mortgagee of any Lot who comes into possession of the Lot pursuant to the remedies provided in the First Mortgage or foreclosure of the First Mortgage, or by way of deed or assignment in lieu of foreclosure shall take the property free of any claims for unpaid assessments or charges against the mortgaged Lot which accrued prior to the time such First Mortgagee comes into the possession of the Lot, except for claims for a pro rata share of such assessments or charges resulting from a pro rata reallocation of such assessment or charges to all Lots, including the mortgaged Lot. Furthermore, upon such foreclosure or deed or assignment in

531334.4 28

lieu of foreclosure, any rights with respect to any Lot which have been suspended with respect to the defaulting Owner shall be reinstated.

- 18.4 Any liens created pursuant to this Declaration or the Bylaws upon any Lot shall be subject and subordinate to and shall not affect the rights of a First Mortgagee under a First Mortgage on such Lot made in good faith and for value; provided, however, that any lien created after a foreclosure sale shall have the same effect and be enforced in the same manner as provided in the Act, this Declaration and/or the Bylaws.
- 18.5 No amendment to this paragraph shall adversely affect a First Mortgagee who has recorded a valid First Mortgage prior to the recordation of any such amendment.
 - 18.6 First Mortgagees shall have the following rights:
- 18.6.1 The right to inspect Association documents and records on the same terms as the Owners:
- 18.6.2 The right to receive written notice of all material amendments to this Declaration, the Articles, and the Bylaws;
- 18.6.3 The right to receive written notice of any extraordinary actions of the Association;
- 18.6.4 The right to receive written notice of any property loss, condemnation or eminent domain proceeding affecting the Common Areas resulting in losses greater than 10% of the annual budget or affecting any Lot insured by the Association in which the First Mortgagee has an interest;
- 18.6.5 The right to receive written notice of any termination, lapse or material modification of an insurance policy held by the Association;
- 18.6.6 The right to receive written notice of any default by an Owner of a Lot subject to a First Mortgage held by the First Mortgagee in paying assessments or charges to the Association which remains uncured for sixty (60) consecutive days;
- 18.6.7 The right to receive written notice of any proposal to terminate this Declaration or dissolve the Association at least 30 days before any such action is taken;
- 18.6.8 The right of a majority of the First Mortgagees to demand professional management for the Association; and
- 18.6.9 The right of a majority of the First Mortgagees to demand an audit, at their expense, of the financial records of the Association.

19. <u>AMENDMENT</u>

19.1 Except as otherwise provided in this Declaration, the provisions of this Declaration may be amended only by the affirmative vote or written assent of at least a bare

majority of the Total Votes of the Association. During the Period of Declarant Control, Declarant shall send to the VA a copy of every amendment to this Declaration immediately following the effective date of the amendment. The percentage of votes necessary to amend a specific clause in this Declaration shall not be less than the percentage of affirmative votes or written assents required for action to be taken under that clause. Any amendment shall be evidenced by an instrument containing a certification from an officer of the Association designated for that purpose, or in the absence of such designation, by the President of the Association that the appropriate consent has been obtained, and shall be duly recorded in the Office of the Recorder of Salt Lake County, Utah. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained or implied herein, Declarant reserves the right, without the consent of any other Owners, to amend any provisions of this Declaration to comply with the then existing statutes, regulations or other requirements of the Utah Department of Commerce-Real Estate Division or any other federal, state or local regulatory authority affecting the Project.

- 19.2 A "material amendment" to this Declaration or an "extraordinary action" (as defined in this Section 19.2) must be approved by (a) Owners entitled to cast at least 67% of the votes of Owners who are present, in person or by proxy or by written ballot, and who vote at such meeting of the Association held in accordance with Subsection 19.2.3 below, and such vote must include at least (i) a majority of the votes of all Owners who are present, in person or by proxy or by written ballot, and who vote at such meeting of the Association other than the Declarant, or (ii) 67% of the Total Votes of the Association, and such vote must include the vote of a majority of all of the Owners other than Declarant, and (b) 51% of the First Mortgagees of the individual Lots. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Declarant reserves the right, without the consent of the other Owners, to make changes or revisions to this Declaration to comply with the requirements of HUD, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or VA.
- 19.2.1 For purposes of this Section 22.2, a "material amendment" includes adding, deleting or modifying any provision of this Declaration regarding the following:
 - (a) Assessment basis or assessment liens;
- (b) Any method of imposing or determining any charges to be levied against individual Lot Owners;
- (c) Reserves for maintenance, repair or replacement of Common Areas;
 - (d) Maintenance obligations;
 - (e) Allocation of interests or rights to use Common Areas;
- (f) Any scheme of regulation or enforcement of standards for maintenance, architectural design or exterior appearance of improvement on Lots;
 - (g) Reduction of insurance requirements;
 - (h) Restoration or repair of Buildings or Common Areas;

- (i) The addition, annexation or withdrawal of land to or from the
- Project;
- (j) Voting rights;
- (k) Redefinition of any Lot boundaries;
- (l) Convertibility of Lots into Common Areas or vice versa;
- (m) Restrictions affecting leasing or sale of Lots; or
- (n) Any provision which is for the express benefit of Mortgagees.
- 19.2.2 For purposes of this Section 19.2.2, an "extraordinary action" includes:
- (a) Merging or consolidating the Association (other than with another nonprofit entity formed for purposes similar to the Association);
- (b) Determining not to require professional management if that management has been required by the Association documents, a majority of First Mortgagees or a majority vote of the Owners;
- (c) Expanding the Association to include land not previously described in this Declaration as Additional Land, which increases the overall land area of the Project or number of Lots by more than 10%;
- (d) Abandoning, partitioning, encumbering, mortgaging, conveying, selling or otherwise transferring or relocating the boundaries of the Common Areas (except for (i) granting easements which are not inconsistent with or which do not interfere with the intended use of the Common Areas; (ii) dedicating any portion of the Common Areas as required by a public authority; (iii) limited boundary-line adjustments made in accordance with the provisions of this Declaration or (iv) transferring any portion of the Common Areas pursuant to a merger or consolidation with a nonprofit entity formed for purposes similar to the Association);
- (e) Using insurance proceeds for purposes other than construction or repair of the insured improvements; or
- (f) Making capital expenditures (other than for repair or replacement of existing improvements) during any period of 12 consecutive months costing more than 20% of the annual operating budget of the Association.)
- 19.2.3 For meetings of the Owners to approve a material amendment or extraordinary action: (i) at least 25 days advance notice to all Owners is required (at least 10 days notice is required in the case of a meeting for other purposes); (ii) the notice states the purpose of the meeting and contains a summary of any material amendments or extraordinary actions proposed; (iii) the notice contains a copy of the proxy or ballot that can be cast in lieu of attendance at the meeting; and (iv) the quorum requirement is at least 20% of the Total Votes of the Association.

- 19.2.4 Any material amendment which changes the rights of any specific class of Owners must also be approved by Owners entitled to cast at least 51% of the votes of all Owners of such class present, in person or by proxy or by ballot, and voting at any meeting of the Association held in accordance with Subsection 19.2.3 above, or at least 51% of the total authorized votes of all Owners of such class.
- 19.2.5 The following material amendments and extraordinary actions must be approved by Owners entitled to cast at least 67% of the Total Votes of the Association, including at least a majority of the Total Votes of the Association entitled to be cast by Owners other than Declarant, and by 67% of the First Mortgagees of the Lots:
- (a) Termination of this Declaration or other termination of the Project; and
- (b) Dissolution of the Association, except pursuant to a consolidation or merger.
- 19.2.6 During the Period of Declarant Control, all material amendments and extraordinary actions must have the approval of VA, if VA has guaranteed any loans secured by Lots in the Project.
- 19.2.7 All other amendments (other than material amendments or extraordinary actions) must be approved by at least a majority of the votes entitled to be cast by all Owners present, in person or by proxy or by ballot, and voting at any meeting of the Association at which a quorum is present, or in writing by Owners entitled to cast at least a majority of the Total Votes of the Association.

20. ASSESSMENT OF LOTS BY THE ASSOCIATION

- 20.1 The making and collection of Assessments by the Association from Owners of Lots for their share of Common Expenses shall be pursuant to the Bylaws and subject to the following provisions:
- 20.1.1 Each Owner, including Declarant, for each Lot which it owns, shall be liable for a proportionate share of the Common Expenses, such share being the same as the ownership interest in the Common Areas appurtenant to the Lot owned by such Owner. Two separate and distinct funds shall be created and maintained hereunder; one for operating expenses and one for capital expenses. Such combined expenses shall constitute the Common Expenses, and the funds received from Common Assessments under this Section 20 shall be the Common Expense Fund. Common Assessments shall include both Regular Common Assessments and Special Common Assessments. Until the Association makes an assessment for Common Expenses, the Declarant shall pay all Common Expenses. After an assessment has been made by the Association, Regular Common Assessments must be made at least annually, based on a budget adopted at least annually by the Association in accordance with the provisions of this Declaration and the Bylaws. Regular Common Assessments shall be levied against each separate Lot, and shall commence as to all Lots of the Project on the first day of the month following the closing of the first sale of a Lot.

32

- 20.1.2 The Association shall provide notice, by first class mail to all Owners, of any increase in the Regular Common Assessments not less than thirty (30) nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the date the increased Regular Common Assessment is due.
- 20.1.3 In addition to the Regular Common Assessments, the Association may levy in any calendar year Special Common Assessments applicable to that year only, for the purpose of defraying, in whole or in part, the cost of any construction or reconstruction, or a described capital improvement upon any of the Areas of Common Responsibility, including the necessary fixtures and personal property related thereto, and other costs, expenses of operation or shortfalls in the collection of Common Assessments from the Owners. The portion of any Special Common Assessment levied against a particular Lot shall be equal to the percentage of undivided interest in the Common Areas appurtenant to such Lot. The Association shall provide notice by first class mail to all Owners of any Special Common Assessments not less than thirty (30) nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the date such Assessment is due.
- 20.1.4 All Common Assessments shall be due as determined pursuant to the Bylaws. Common Assessments and any installments thereof not paid on or before ten (10) days after the date when due shall bear interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum, or at such lower rate of interest as may be set by the Management Committee, from the date when due until paid. Furthermore, Owners who do not pay their Common Assessments when due shall be subject to a late fee in the amount of \$5.00 per day, plus interest, adjustable from year to year at the discretion of the Association pursuant to the Cost of Living Index. Any payments of Common Assessments shall be first applied to accrued interest and late fees, and then to the Common Assessment payment first due. All Common Assessments to pay a judgment against the Association may be made only against the Lots in the Project at the time the judgment was entered, in proportion to their liabilities for Common Expenses. If any Common Expense is caused by the misconduct of any Owner, the Association may assess that expense exclusively against such Owner's Lot(s). If the Owners' percentage interests in the Common Areas are reallocated, assessments for Common Expenses and any installment thereof not yet due must be recalculated in accordance with the reallocated percentage interests of the Owners.
- The Association shall have the right to assess a fine against the Owner of a Lot, after the requirements of this Section 20.1.5 have been met, for a violation of the Rules of the Association, which have been promulgated in accordance with this Declaration and the By-Laws. Before assessing a fine against the Owner of a Lot, the Association shall give written notice to the Owner of the Lot of the violation, which notice shall inform the Owner that a fine will be imposed if the violation is not cured within the time limit provided in this Declaration, the By-Laws or the Rules, which cure period shall be in any event at least 48 hours. A fine assessed under this Section 20.1.5 shall: (a) be made only for a violation of a rule or regulation which is specifically listed in this Declaration, the By-Laws or the Rules as an offense which is subject to a fine; (b) be in the amount specifically provided for in this Declaration, the By-Laws or the Rules, not to exceed \$500 per month; and (c) accrue interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum, or at such lower rate of interest as may be set by the Association, if the fine is not paid on or before ten (10) days after the date that the notice of the fine is sent to the Owner. Cumulative fines for a continuing violation may not exceed \$500 per month. The Owner of a Lot who is assessed a fine under this Section 20.1.5 may request an informal hearing to protest or dispute the fine by delivering written notice to the Association of the request for a hearing, which

531334.4 33

notice shall be delivered to the Association within thirty (30) days after the date the fine is assessed. The informal hearing before the Association shall occur within thirty (30) days after the date that the Owner of the Lot delivers to the Association written notice requesting the hearing. At the hearing, one or more members of the Association shall present in an informal setting evidence of the violation of the rule or regulation which gave rise to the fine. The Owner contesting the fine shall be entitled to present evidence in an informal setting to challenge the alleged occurrence of the violation of the rule or regulation and such other evidence and information as the Owner determines to be applicable or appropriate. The Association shall issue its decision in writing with respect to such Owner's protest or dispute within ten (10) days following the conclusion of the hearing. No interest or late fees may accrue until after the hearing has been conducted and a final decision has been rendered. The Owner of a Lot may appeal a fine issued under this Section 20.1.5 by initiating a civil action within 180 days after: (a) a hearing has been held and a final decision has been rendered by the Association as described in this Section 20.1.5; or (b) the time for the Owner to request an informal hearing under this Section 20.1.5 has expired without the Owner making such a request. A fine assessed under this Section 20.1.5 which remains unpaid after the time has expired for an Owner to commence a civil action to appeal the fine, as provided in the foregoing sentence, becomes a lien against the Lot owned by such Owner within the Project in accordance with the same standards as a lien for the non-payment of Common Assessments as provided in Section 20.1.6 of this Declaration.

There shall be a lien upon the applicable Lot for all unpaid Regular 20.1.6 and Special Common Assessments, together with late fees, interest and costs (including attorneys' fees) charged pursuant to this Declaration and for unpaid fines as provided in Section 20.1.5 hereof. The lien for unpaid Regular and Special Common Assessments, fines, and related charges shall be effective upon recordation in the Office of the Recorder of Salt Lake County, Utah of a written notice of lien by the Association. Such lien shall be superior (prior) to all other liens and encumbrances except liens and encumbrances recorded before recordation of this Declaration, a Mortgage on a Lot guaranteed by VA, a First Mortgage on a Lot as provided for in Section 18.3 hereof and assessments, liens and charges in favor of the state or any political subdivision thereof, for taxes and other governmental assessments or charges past due and unpaid on the Lot. The sale or transfer of any Lot pursuant to mortgage foreclosure of a First Mortgage or any proceeding in lieu thereof extinguishes the lien of such assessments as to payments which became due prior to such sale or transfer. No sale or transfer of a Lot pursuant to a mortgage foreclosure of a First Mortgage or any proceeding in lieu thereof relieves such Lot from liability for any assessments thereafter becoming due or from the lien thereof. Such lien may be enforced by judicial foreclosure or by non-judicial foreclosure in the same manner in which mortgages and deeds of trust on real property may be foreclosed in the State of Utah. A lien for unpaid assessments shall be enforced in accordance with the provisions of this Section 20. The lien procedures described herein do not prohibit the Association from taking a deed in lieu of foreclosure. A judgment or decree in any action brought hereunder must include costs and reasonable attorneys' fees for the prevailing party. The Association upon written request shall furnish to an Owner a statement setting forth the amount of unpaid assessments against the Lot. This statement must be furnished within ten (10) business days after receipt of the request and is binding on the Association and every Owner, in favor of all who rely on such statement in good faith. All Regular and Special Common Assessments, fines, late fees, interest and costs payable by an Owner to the Association, as provided in this Declaration, shall be the

531334.4 34

personal obligation of the Owner who is the Owner of the applicable Lot at the time the Regular or Special Common Assessment, fines or other charge is assessed. Even though the lien against the applicable Lot for all unpaid Regular and Special Common Assessments, fines, interest and costs continues until paid as provided in this Declaration, the personal obligation of an Owner for delinquent amounts shall not pass to such Owner's successor in title or interest, unless such delinquent amounts are assumed by the successors or unless required by applicable law.

- 20.2 The Association shall include in the periodic Regular Common Assessments to the Owners amounts representing sums to be set aside and accumulated in a reserve fund to be used for the periodic maintenance, repair and replacement of the Areas of Common Responsibility of the Project. Additionally, the Association shall establish a working capital fund for the initial months of the Project operations equal to at least a 2 months' estimated Regular Common Assessment for each Lot.
- The Association shall not expend funds designated as reserves for any purpose other than the repair, restoration, replacement or maintenance of major components of the Areas of Common Responsibility for which the Association is responsible and for which the reserve fund was established or for litigation involving such matters. Nevertheless, the Association may authorize the temporary transfer of money from the reserve account to the Association's operating account from time to time to meet short term cash flow requirements and pay other expenses. Any such funds so transferred shall constitute a debt of the Association, and shall be restored and returned to the reserve account within three (3) years of the date of the initial transfer; provided, however, the Association may, upon making a documented finding that a delay in the restoration of such funds to the reserve account would be in the best interests of the Project and the Association, delay such restoration until the time it reasonably determines to be necessary. The Association shall exercise prudent fiscal management in the timing of restoring any transferred funds to the reserve account and shall, if necessary, levy a Special Common Assessment to recover the full amount of the expended funds within the time limit specified above. Any such Special Common Assessment shall not be subject to the limitations set forth in Section 20.1.3 hereof. If the current replacement value of the major components of the Areas of Common Responsibility which the Association is obligated to repair, replace, restore or maintain is equal to or greater than one-half of the total budgeted Common Expenses for any fiscal year, then at least once every three (3) years the Association shall cause a study to be conducted of the reserve account of the Association and its adequacy to satisfy anticipated future expenditure requirements. The Association shall, thereafter, annually review the reserve account study and shall consider and implement necessary adjustments to reserve account requirements and funding as a result of that review. Any reserve account study shall include, at a minimum:
- (a) Identification of the major components of the Areas of Common Responsibility which the Association is obligated to repair, replace, restore or maintain which, as of the date of the study, have a useful life of less than 30 years.
- (b) Identification of the probable remaining useful life of the items identified in subparagraph a, above, as of the date of the study.

531334.4 35

- (c) An estimate of the cost of repair, replacement, restoration or maintenance of each item identified in subparagraph a, above, during and at the end of its useful life.
- (d) An estimate of the total annual contribution necessary to defray the cost to repair, replace, restore or maintain each item during and at the end of its useful life, after subtracting total reserve funds as of the date of the study.

For the purposes of this Section, the term "reserve account requirements" means the estimated funds which the Management Committee has determined are required to be available at a specified point in time to repair, replace or restore those major components which the Association is obligated to maintain.

20.4 If an Owner shall at any time lease his Lot and shall default in the payment of Common Assessments, the Management Committee may, at its option, so long as such default shall continue, demand and receive from any tenant of the Owner the rent due or becoming due, and the payment of such rent to the Management Committee shall be sufficient payment and discharge of such tenant and the Owner for such Common Assessments to the extent of the amount so paid.

21. EASEMENTS

- 21.1 If any part of the Common Areas or any Building encroaches or shall hereafter encroach upon a Lot or Lots, an easement for such encroachment and for the maintenance of the same shall and does exist. If any part of a Dwelling encroaches or shall hereafter encroach upon the Common Areas or any Building, or upon an adjoining Lot or Lots, an easement for such encroachment and for the maintenance of the same shall and does exist. Such encroachments shall not be considered to be encumbrances either on the Common Areas or the Dwellings. Encroachments referred to herein include, but are not limited to, encroachments caused by error in the original construction of any improvement constructed or to be constructed within the Project, by error in the Plat, by settling, rising or shifting of the earth, or by changes in position caused by repair or reconstruction of the Project or any part thereof.
- 21.2 Improvements, including Dwellings, Buildings, Common Areas and Limited Common Areas, constructed as subsequent phases of the Project, if any, may encroach upon portions of the Common Areas of earlier phases of the Project. A perpetual easement for such encroachment and the activities necessary to repair, maintain and operate such improvements is hereby granted.
- 21.3 Declarant shall have a transferable easement over, across and within the Property for the purposes of (i) completing construction of the Project and improvements therein as shown on the Plat and for doing all things reasonably necessary or appropriate in connection therewith, (ii) connecting the Buildings to other adjoining structures or buildings, and (iii) constructing walkways or other connecting devices capable of adjoining the Buildings, and other Buildings which may be constructed in the Project, to other structures or buildings to be constructed in the Project. It is contemplated that Declarant or another party may construct additional Buildings, as subsequent phases of the Project, which may encroach upon portions of the Common Areas, and

Declarant shall also have an easement over, across and within the Common Areas for such purposes.

- 21.4 Each Owner shall have a non-exclusive easement for ingress and egress over, upon and across the Common Areas as necessary for access to such Owner's Lot and for utilities serving such Lot and to any Limited Common Areas appurtenant to such Owner's Lot, and shall have the right to the horizontal, vertical and lateral support of such Owner's Lot. In addition each Owner shall have a non-exclusive easement of use and enjoyment in the Common Areas which is appurtenant to and passes with title to such Owner's Lot. The right of access for necessary ingress and egress to the Lot and utility services cannot be suspended by the Association for violations of this Declaration or nonpayment of assessments. The Owner's easement rights shall be subject to the following limitations:
- 21.4.1 The right of the Association, acting through the Management Committee, without Owner, Mortgagee and agency approvals, to grant easements across the Common Areas for any purpose not inconsistent with the use of the Common Areas by the Owners;
- 21.4.2 The right of the Association, acting through the Management Committee, without Owner, Mortgagee and agency approvals, to adopt regulations governing the use of Common Areas, and the personal conduct of Owners, occupants and guests thereon;
- 21.4.3 The right of the Association, acting through the Management Committee, without Owner, Mortgagee and agency approvals, to charge reasonable admission or other fees for special or extraordinary uses of the Common Areas; and
- 21.4.4 The right of the Association, acting through the Management Committee, without Owner, Mortgagee or agency approvals, to suspend the right of any Owner, and the rights of any Owner's household, tenants, guests and invitees to use recreational facilities or other portions of the Common Areas (to the extent that access and utility service are not impaired) for a period not to exceed 60 days, unless such rights are suspended for failure to pay Assessments, in which case such rights may be suspended until the Assessments are fully paid.
- 21.5 The Association and the Manager shall have an easement to make such use of the Common Areas as may be necessary or convenient to perform the duties and functions that it is obligated or permitted to perform pursuant to this Declaration, including, without limitation, the right to construct and maintain the Areas of Common Responsibility and the Common Areas.
- 21.6 The Owners of Lots 4, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 13, 14, 16, 17, 19, 20, 22, 23, 25, 26, 40, 41, 43, 44, 46, 47, 49, 50, 52, 53, 55, 56, 58, 59, 61, 62, 64, 65, 67, 68, 70, 71, 73, 74, 76 and 77 shall each have a Private Garage Easement that shall be appurtenant to such Owner's Lot with respect to the specific Private Garage Area that is identified on the Plat as being appurtenant to such specified Lot.
- 21.7 All conveyances of Lots within the Project hereafter made, whether by Declarant or otherwise, shall be construed to grant and reserve such easements as are provided herein, even though no specific reference to such easements appears in any such conveyance.

22. NOTICES

Any notice permitted or required to be delivered as provided herein may be delivered either personally, by first class mail, by express mail or overnight courier service providing proof of delivery, or by telecopy or facsimile transmission. Notice to Owners shall be addressed to each Owner at the address given by such Owners to the Management Committee for the purpose of service of such notice or to the Lot of such Owner if no such address has been given to the Management Committee. Notice shall be deemed given when actually received if personally delivered or sent by overnight courier; if faxed, when the fax is received, except that if the fax is received at a time other than the normal business hours of the office at which it is received, on the next regular business day; and if by mail, the earlier of the day actually received or the third business day after the notice is deposited in the United States Mail, properly addressed and postage prepaid. Such address may be changed from time to time by notice in writing to the Management Committee addressed to:

Management Committee Stonegate Townhome Homeowners' Association, Inc. 11075 South State Street, Suite 30 Sandy, Utah 84070

23. NO WAIVER

The failure of the Management Committee or its agents or designees to insist, in one or more instances, upon the strict performance of any of the terms, covenants, conditions or restrictions of this Declaration or the Bylaws, to exercise any right or option herein contained or to serve any notice or to institute any action shall not be construed as a waiver or a relinquishment for the future of such term, covenant, condition or restriction; but such term, covenant, condition or restriction shall remain in full force and effect. The receipt and acceptance by the Management Committee or its agents or designees of the payment of any Assessment from an Owner with knowledge of the breach of any covenant hereof shall not be deemed a waiver of such breach, and no waiver by the Management Committee of any provision hereof shall be deemed to have been made unless expressed in writing and signed by the Management Committee.

24. ENFORCEMENT

All Owners, guests or lessees of an Owner, persons under Owner's control, and the Association shall strictly comply with the provisions of this Declaration, the Bylaws and the rules and regulations of the Association and decisions issued pursuant thereto. Failure to so comply shall be grounds for: (i) an action to recover sums due for damages or injunctive relief or both, maintainable by the Management Committee or its agent or designee on behalf of the Owners, or in an appropriate case, by an aggrieved Owner; and/or (ii) the Management Committee to impose monetary penalties, temporary suspensions of an Owner's right to the use of the Common Areas, or other appropriate discipline so long as any such Owner has been given notice and has had an opportunity to present a written or oral defense to the charges in a hearing. The Management Committee shall determine whether the Owner's defense shall be oral or written. After the hearing, but before any disciplinary action is taken, the Owner shall be

notified of the decision of the Management Committee. The Management Committee may delegate to the Manager, the power and authority to carry out disciplinary actions duly imposed.

- 24.2 The Association shall not have the power to cause the absolute forfeiture of an Owner's right, title or interest in a Lot on account of the Owner's failure to comply with the provisions of this Declaration or the rules and regulations of the Association for the Project except pursuant to:
 - 24.2.1 The judgment of a court; or
- 24.2.2 A foreclosure for the failure of an Owner to pay assessments duly levied by the Association.

25. <u>ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION</u>

- 25.1 Declarant, the Association, its officers, and directors, all Owners or other parties subject to this Declaration (each a "Bound Party") agree to encourage the amicable resolution of disputes involving any Bound Party without the emotional and financial costs of litigation. Accordingly, each Bound Party covenants and agrees to submit those claims, grievances or disputes described in Section 25.2 (collectively, "Claims") to the procedures set forth in Section 25.3.
- 25.2 Unless specifically exempted below, all Claims arising out of or relating to the interpretation, application or enforcement of this Declaration, or the rights, obligations and duties of any Bound Party under this Declaration or relating to the design or construction of improvements on the Property shall be subject to the provisions of Section 25.3. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, unless all parties thereto otherwise agree, the following shall not be Claims and shall not be subject to the provisions of Section 25.3 (collectively "Claims Exempt from Dispute Resolution"):
- 25.2.1 any suit or action by the Association against any Bound Party for delinquent assessments of any nature or to enforce any of Section 20;
- 25.2.2 any suit by the Association or Declarant to obtain a temporary restraining order or injunction (or equivalent emergency equitable relief) and such other ancillary relief as the court may deem necessary in order to maintain the status quo and preserve the Association's ability to act under and enforce the provisions of Section 12 and Section 14;
- 25.2.3 any suit between or among Owners, which does not include Declarant or the Association as a party, if such suit asserts a Claim which would constitute a cause of action independent of this Declaration;
 - any suit in which any indispensable party is not a Bound Party; and
- 25.2.5 any suit as to which any applicable statute of limitations has expired or would expire within 180 days of giving the Notice required by Section 25.3.

39

- 25.3 The following constitute the mandatory procedures for resolving all Claims other than the Claims Exempt from Dispute Resolution.
- 25.3.1 Any Bound Party initiating a Claim ("Claimant") against any other Bound Party ("Respondent") (the Claimant and the Respondent referred to herein being individually referred to as a "Party," or collectively referred to as the "Parties") shall notify each Respondent in writing (the "Notice"), stating plainly and concisely:
- (a) the nature of the Claim, including the Persons involved and Respondent's role in the Claim;
- (b) the legal basis of the Claim (i.e., the specific authority out of which the Claim arises);
 - (c) the proposed remedy; and
- (d) the fact that Claimant will meet with Respondent to discuss in good faith ways to resolve the Claim.
- 25.3.2 The following constitute the procedures for negotiation or mediation to resolve Claims.
- (a) The Parties shall make every reasonable effort to meet in person and confer for the purpose of resolving the Claim by good faith negotiation. If requested in writing, accompanied by a copy of the Notice, the Management Committee may appoint a representative to assist the Parties in negotiation.
- (b) If the Parties do not resolve the Claim within 30 days after the date of the Notice (or within such other period as may be agreed upon by the Parties) ("Termination of Negotiations"), Claimant shall have an additional 30 days to submit the Claim to mediation under the auspices of an independent mediation service designated by the Association, or, if the Parties otherwise agree, to an independent agency providing dispute resolution services with substantial experience with comparable disputes.
- (c) If Claimant does not submit the Claim to mediation within such time, or does not appear for the mediation, Claimant shall be deemed to have waived the Claim, and Respondent shall be released and discharged from any and all liability to Claimant on account of such Claim; provided, nothing herein shall release or discharge Respondent from any liability to any Person other than the Claimant.
- (d) Any settlement of the Claim through mediation shall be documented in writing by the mediator and signed by the Parties. If the Parties do not settle the Claim within 30 days after submission of the matter to the mediation, or within such other time as determined by the mediator or agreed to by the Parties, the mediator shall issue a notice of termination of the mediation proceedings ("Termination of Mediation"). The Termination of Mediation notice shall set forth that the Parties are at an impasse and the date that mediation was terminated.

- (e) Each Party shall bear its own costs of the mediation, including attorneys' fees, and each Party shall share equally all charges rendered by the mediator. If the Parties agree to a resolution of any Claim through negotiation or mediation in accordance with this Section 25.3 and any Party thereafter fails to abide by the terms of such agreement, then any other Party may file suit or initiate administrative proceedings to enforce such agreement without the need to again comply with the procedures set forth in this Section 25.3. In such event, the Party taking action to enforce the agreement shall be entitled to recover from the non-complying Party (or if more than one non-complying Party, from all such Parties pro rata) all costs incurred in enforcing such agreement, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees and court costs.
- Upon Termination of Mediation, Claimant shall thereafter be entitled to submit the matter to binding arbitration. Any arbitration proceeding will (i) proceed in Salt Lake City, Utah; (ii) be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (Title 9 of the United States Code); and (iii) be conducted in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association ("AAA"). Any arbitration proceeding will be before a single arbitrator. The parties shall use reasonable efforts to agree upon a single arbitrator within ten (10) days after written notice from one party to the other requesting arbitration. If the parties are unable to agree upon an arbitrator within such ten (10) day period, at any time thereafter either party may require that the arbitrator be selected according to the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the AAA. The arbitrator will be a neutral attorney who practices in the area of commercial real estate or business law. The arbitrator will determine whether or not an issue is arbitrable and will give effect to the statutes of limitation in determining any Claim. Judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. In any arbitration proceeding, the arbitrator will decide (by documents only or with a hearing at the arbitrator's discretion) any pre-hearing motions which are similar to motions to dismiss for failure to state a claim or motions for summary adjudication. In any arbitration proceeding, discovery will be permitted and will be governed by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. All discovery must be completed no later than 20 days before the hearing date and within 180 days of the commencement of arbitration proceedings. Any requests for an extension of the discovery periods, or any discovery disputes, will be subject to final determination by the arbitrator upon a showing that the request for discovery is essential for the party's presentation and that no alternative means for obtaining information is available. The arbitrator shall award costs and expenses of the arbitration proceeding in accordance with the provisions of this Declaration. The laws of the State of Utah shall apply in any arbitration proceeding, without regard to its conflict of laws rules.
- 25.4 Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary and in addition to any requirements prescribed by law, the Association may not submit a Claim against Declarant or an affiliate of Declarant to binding arbitration upon Termination of Mediation, and (if the provisions of Section 25.3 do not apply) may not file any action against Declarant or an affiliate of Declarant arising out of or related to the design, construction, condition or sale of any part of the Property or any improvements thereon, until all of the following have occurred:
- 25.4.1 In advance of the meeting described in Subsection 25.4.2 below, the Management Committee has provided full disclosure in writing to all Owners of all material information relating to the Claim or action. The material information shall include, without limitation, a statement that describes the manner in which the action will be funded and a

531334.4 41

statement describing any demands, notices, offers to settle or responses to offers to settle made either by the Association or the Declarant or its affiliate, if applicable.

- 25.4.2 The Association has held a duly called meeting of the Owners and the Management Committee, at which a majority of all Owners (not merely a majority of those Owners voting in person or by proxy at such meeting), voting in person or by proxy, authorize the submittal of the Claim to arbitration or the filing of the action, as applicable.
- 25.4.3 The Management Committee has authorized the submittal of the Claim to arbitration or the filing of the action, as applicable.
- 25.5 DECLARANT AND, BY ACCEPTING A DEED FOR A LOT, EACH OWNER AGREE TO HAVE ANY DISPUTE RESOLVED ACCORDING TO THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION 25, AND SUCH PARTIES WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO PURSUE ANY DISPUTE IN ANY MANNER OTHER THAN AS PROVIDED IN THIS SECTION 25. SUCH PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THAT BY AGREEING TO RESOLVE ALL DISPUTES AS PROVIDED IN THIS SECTION 25, THEY ARE GIVING UP THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO HAVE SUCH DISPUTES TRIED BEFORE A COURT OR JURY.

26. DECLARANT

The term "Declarant", as used herein shall mean and include D.R. HORTON, INC., a Delaware corporation, and any person or persons who might acquire title from it to all or substantially all unsold Units through foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure; or, in the situation where, any person purchases all, or substantially all, of the remaining Units in a sale in the nature of a bulk sale.

27. <u>SEVERABILITY</u>

The provisions of this Declaration shall be deemed independent and severable, and the invalidity or partial invalidity or unenforceability of any one provision or portion hereof shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision hereof.

28. <u>CAPTIONS</u>

The captions in this Declaration are inserted only as a matter of convenience and for reference and in no way define, limit or describe the scope of this Declaration or the intent of any provision hereof.

29. <u>LAW CONTROLLING</u>

This Declaration and the Plat shall be construed and controlled by and under the laws of the State of Utah.

30. CONSTRUCTION

The provisions of this Declaration shall be in addition and supplemental to all other provisions of law. Wherever used herein, unless the context shall otherwise provide, the singular number shall include the plural, the plural shall include the singular, and the use of any gender shall include all genders.

31. <u>EFFECTIVE DATE</u>

This Declaration shall take effect when recorded in the Office of the Recorder of Salt Lake County, Utah.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Declarant has caused this Declaration to be executed by a person duly authorized to execute the same this ______ day of April, 2004.

D.R. HORTON, INC., a Delaware corporation

By: Rushm J Tullint V. P.

Rustin J. Tolbert
Title: Vice President

STATE OF UTAH)	
	:	SS.
COUNTY OF SALT LAKE)	

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this $\underline{9}$ day of April, 2004, by Rustin J. Tolbert, the Vice President of D.R. HORTON, INC., a Delaware corporation.

Notary Public Residing at: SANDY, UTAH

My Commission Expires:

6/20/07

Netary Public
GONNIE QUINTANA
390 E. Wyandotte Ave.
Sandy, UT 84070
My Commission Expires
June 28, 2007
State of Utah

EXHIBIT A TO DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS AND EASEMENTS OF STONEGATE TOWNHOMES

Legal Description of the Property

That certain real property located in Salt lake County, State of Utah, more particularly described as follows:

BEGINNING AT A POINT WHICH IS NORTH 0°02'16" WEST, 858.00 FEET ALONG THE SECTION LINE AND SOUTH 89°57'44" WEST, 40.00 FEET FROM THE EAST QUARTER CORNER OF SECTION 3, TOWNSHIP 3 SOUTH, RANGE 1 WEST, SALT LAKE BASE AND MERIDIAN; AND RUNNING THENCE SOUTH 89°57'44" WEST, 428.60 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 0°02'16" EAST, 133.33 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89°53'19" WEST, 215.62 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89°53'19" WEST, 640.02 FEET; THENCE NORTH 0°02'16" WEST, 265.37 FEET TO THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF TWIN OAKS II SUBDIVISION PHASES 1 AND 2; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE NORTH 89°53'05" EAST, 1086.66 FEET; THENCE SOUTH, 82.41 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89°57'44" EAST, 182.64 FEET; THENCE 23.56 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A 15.00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE LEFT (CHORD BEARS NORTH 44°57'44" EAST, 21.21 FEET) TO THE SECTION LINE; THENCE SOUTH 0°02'16" EAST, 65.00 FEET ALONG THE SECTION LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

CONTAINS: 6.1426 ACRES

A-1

EXHIBIT B TO DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS AND EASEMENTS OF STONEGATE TOWNHOMES

(Bylaws)

See Attached

531334.4 B-1

BK 8969 PG 2871

EXHIBIT C TO DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS AND EASEMENTS OF STONEGATE TOWNHOMES

(Reduced Copy of Plat)

THE REDUCED COPY OF THE **SUBDIVISION PLAT FOR STONEGATE**TOWNHOMES AMENDED ATTACHED AS EXHIBIT C IS INCLUDED HEREIN ONLY
FOR THE CONVENIENCE OF THE READER OF THIS DECLARATION. ALL
REFERENCES TO THE "PLAT" CONTAINED IN THE DECLARATION ARE
REFERENCES TO THE FULL SIZED SUBDIVISION PLAT FOR STONEGATE
TOWNHOMES AMENDED RECORDED, TOGETHER WITH THIS DECLARATION, IN
THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF SALT LAKE COUNTY, UTAH, AND NOT TO THE
ATTACHED REDUCTION COPY.

C-I

BYLAWS OF

STONEGATE TOWNHOMES HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC.

THESE BYLAWS OF STONEGATE TOWNHOMES HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC. (these "Bylaws") are adopted by Stonegate Townhomes Homeowners' Association, Inc. (the "Association") this 1st day of April, 2004.

The administration of the Association shall be governed by the Declaration, the Utah Revised Nonprofit Corporation Act, (the "Nonprofit Corporation Act") the Articles and these Bylaws. Terms that are capitalized in these Bylaws and which are not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements of Stonegate Townhomes recorded in the Office of the Recorder of the Salt Lake County, Utah.

1. Application of Bylaws. All present and future Owners, Mortgagees, lessees and occupants of Lots and their invitees and guests, and any other persons who may use the facilities of the Project in any manner are subject to the Declaration, these Bylaws and all rules made pursuant hereto and any amendments hereof. The acceptance of a deed or conveyance of a Lot, or the occupancy of any Lot, shall constitute an agreement that the provisions of the Declaration and these Bylaws and any rules and regulations made pursuant hereto, as they may be amended from time to time, are accepted, ratified and will be complied with. Membership in the Association is appurtenant to each Lot and may not be separated or severed therefrom. Every gift, devise, bequest, transfer, encumbrance or conveyance, respectively, of the appurtenant membership in the Association without the need of any separate transfer or assignment document.

2. <u>Board of Directors/Management Committee.</u>

- 2.1 The management and maintenance of the Project and the duty to administer the affairs of the Association to fulfill the purposes of the Association shall be accomplished and conducted by the Board of Directors of the Association, who shall constitute the Management Committee, consisting of five (5) natural persons. The first Management Committee shall consist of the members of the Board of Directors designated as such in the Articles, and they shall serve until the first meeting of the members of the Association, at which time an election of all the members of the Management Committee shall be conducted.
- 2.2 The Declaration establishes a Period of Declarant Control of the Association, during which period the Declarant shall be entitled to vote three (3) votes for every Lot owned by Declarant and during which period Declarant shall have the authority to appoint and remove the officers and members of the Management Committee. The period of Declarant control shall terminate on the earlier of: (i) five (5) years after the recordation in the Office of the Recorder of Salt Lake County, Utah of the most recently recorded amendment to the Declaration that is recorded for the purpose of expanding the Project pursuant to Section 7 of the Declaration; or (ii) one hundred twenty (120) days after the date 75% of the total number of Lots in the

Project are conveyed to Owners other than Declarant, after all Additional Land has been added to the Project; or (iii) the date Declarant delivers to the Association written notice of Declarant's election to relinquish control of the Association. At the next annual meeting of the members of the Association after the termination of the period of Declarant control, the Owners shall elect a Management Committee of five (5) members. The members and officers of the Management Committee shall take office upon election. Thereafter, at every annual meeting, the Association shall elect the members of the Management Committee to fill those positions becoming vacant at such meeting. The Management Committee may, but shall not be obligated to, inquire of the Owners to identify those having an interest in serving on the Management Committee. Nominations for positions on the Management Committee may be made by petition filed with the Secretary of the Association at least seven (7) days prior to the annual meeting of the Association, which petition shall be signed by ten (10) or more Owners and signed by the nominee named therein indicating his or her willingness to serve as a member of the Management Committee, if elected.

2.3 Voting for the Management Committee shall be by written ballot. At any meeting of the Association, each Owner, either in person or by proxy or by written ballot, shall be entitled to one (1) vote for each Lot in the Project owned by such Owner, multiplied by the number of Management Committee seats to be filled. No Owner may cast more than one (1) vote in favor of a single candidate. Cumulative voting shall not be allowed. In an election of multiple Directors/members of the Management Committee, that number of candidates equaling the number of Directors to be elected, having the highest number of votes cast in favor of their election, are elected to the Board of Directors/Management Committee. When only one Director is being voted upon, the candidate having the highest number of votes cast in his or her favor is elected. The initial members of the Board of Directors/Management Committee shall be the following persons, and each shall hold the office indicated:

Rustin J. Tolbert President/Member

Bret Miller Vice President/ Member

Boyd Martin Vice President/ Member

Connie Quintana Secretary/Treasurer/Member

William P. Peperone Member

2.4 Members of the Management Committee shall serve for terms of two (2) years beginning immediately upon their election by the Association; provided, however, that a majority of the members of the Management Committee elected at the first annual meeting following the termination of Declarant control shall serve for initial terms of one (1) year and the balance shall serve for initial terms of two (2) years. Thereafter, all members of the Management Committee elected shall serve for two-year terms. The members of the Management Committee shall serve until their respective successors are elected, or until their death, resignation or removal. Any member of the Management Committee who fails to attend three consecutive Management Committee meetings or fails to attend at least 25% of the Management Committee

meetings held during any fiscal year shall be deemed to have tendered his resignation, and upon acceptance by the Management Committee his position shall be vacant.

- 2.5 Any member of the Management Committee may resign at any time by giving written notice to the President of the Association or to the remaining Management Committee members. The sale of any such member's Lot or Lots resulting in that member no longer owning a Lot in the Project shall constitute a resignation from the Management Committee. The Owners, by a two-thirds vote of all persons present and entitled to vote at any meeting of the Owners at which a quorum is present, may remove any member of the Management Committee with or without cause, other than a member appointed by Declarant during the Period of Declarant Control. However, a Management Committee member elected solely by the votes of the Owners may only be removed prior to the expiration of his or her term of office by a vote of two-thirds of the voting power residing in the Owners.
- 2.6 If vacancies shall occur in the Management Committee by reason of the death or resignation of a Management Committee member, the Management Committee members then in office shall continue to act, and such vacancies shall be filled by a vote of the Management Committee members then in office, though less than a quorum. Any vacancy in the Management Committee occurring by reason of removal of a Management Committee member by the Owners may be filled by election at the meeting at which such Management Committee member is removed or any subsequent regular or special meeting of the Association.
- 2.7 The members of the Management Committee shall receive no compensation for their services, unless expressly approved by the vote or written assent of a majority of the voting power residing in the Owners. Any member of the Management Committee may be employed by the Association in another capacity and receive compensation for such employment; provided further, that such employment shall be approved by vote or in writing by all members of the Management Committee not including the member to be employed.
- 2.8 The Management Committee, for the benefit of the Project and the Association, shall manage the business, property and affairs of the Project and the Association and enforce the provisions of the Declaration, these Bylaws and the rules and regulations governing the Project. The Management Committee is authorized to adopt rules and regulations governing the use and operation of the Project, which shall become effective 30 days after adoption by the Management Committee. The Management Committee shall have the powers, duties and responsibilities with respect to the Project as contained in the Nonprofit Corporation Act, the Declaration, the Articles and these Bylaws.
- 2.9 The meetings of the Management Committee shall be held at least once each calendar quarter at such times and places within the Project, or some other reasonable and suitable location in Salt Lake County, Utah unless a meeting at another location would significantly reduce the cost to the Association and/or the inconvenience to Management Committee members, as the Management Committee shall determine. A majority of the Management Committee shall constitute a quorum, and if a quorum is present, the decision of a majority of those present shall be the act of the Management Committee. The Management Committee shall annually elect all of the officers of the Association. The election of officers

3

shall be conducted at the first meeting of the Management Committee held subsequent to the annual meeting of the Association.

- 2.10 Written notice of the time and place of Management Committee meetings shall be posted at a prominent place or places within the Project not less than four (4) days prior to the meeting.
- 2.11 Special meetings of the Management Committee may be called by written notice signed by any two members of the Management Committee. The notice shall specify the time and place of the meeting and the nature of any special business to be considered. Special meetings shall be held within the Project or some other reasonable location in Salt Lake County, Utah, unless a meeting at another location would significantly reduce the cost to the Association and/or inconvenience to the members of the Management Committee. Written notice of any special meeting shall be posted in a manner prescribed for notice of regular meetings of the Management Committee and shall be sent to all members of the Management Committee not less than 48 hours prior to the scheduled time of the meeting; provided, however, that notice of such meeting need not be given to any member signing a waiver of notice or a written consent to the holding of such meeting. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered three (3) days after the date on which such notice is deposited in the U.S. mail, with first-class postage thereon prepaid. If an agenda is prepared for a special meeting, the meeting need not be restricted to discussions of those items listed on the agenda.
- 2.12 Notices of all regular Management Committee meetings shall be given in writing to each member of the Management Committee not less than five (5) days prior to the meeting, provided that this requirement shall not apply to any member of the Management Committee who has signed a waiver of notice or a written consent to the holding of a meeting.
- 2.13 Regular and special meetings of the Management Committee shall be open to all members of the Association; provided, however, that the Association members who are not on the Management Committee may not participate in any deliberation or discussion, unless expressly so authorized by the vote of a majority of a quorum of the Management Committee. The Management Committee may, with the approval of a majority of a quorum of its members, adjourn the meeting and reconvene in executive session to discuss and vote upon personnel matters, litigation in which the Association is or may become involved, and orders of business of a similar nature. The nature of any and all business to be considered in executive session shall first be announced in open session.
- 2.14 Any action required or permitted by the Nonprofit Corporation Act to be taken at a meeting of the Management Committee may be taken without a meeting if each and every member of the Management Committee in writing either: (a) votes for the action; or (b)(i)(A) votes against the action; or (B) abstains from voting; and (ii) waives the right to demand that action not be taken without a meeting, in accordance with the provisions of the Nonprofit Corporation Act.
- 2.15 The Association's fiscal year shall be determined by the Management Committee.

4

- 2.16 When a member of the Management Committee is sued for liability for actions undertaken in his role as a member of the Management Committee, the Association shall indemnify him for his losses or claims, and undertake all costs of defense, until and unless it is proven that he acted with willful or wanton misfeasance or with gross negligence. After such proof the Association is no longer liable for the cost of defense and may recover costs already expended from the member of the Management Committee who so acted. Members of the Management Committee are not personally liable to the victim of crimes occurring at the Project. Punitive damages may not be recovered against the Association.
- 2.17 An officer, employee, agent or director of a corporate Owner of a Lot, a trustee or designated beneficiary of a trust that owns a Lot, a partner of a partnership that owns a Lot, and a fiduciary of an estate that owns a Lot may be considered an Owner for the purpose of determining eligibility for membership of the Management Committee. In all events where the person serving or offering to serve as an officer or member of the Management Committee is not the record Owner, they shall file proof of authority in the records of the Association.
- 2.18 The Management Committee or the officers appointed thereby may delegate to the Manager, or such other persons as it so determines, all of the duties and obligations of the Management Committee set forth herein and in the Declaration to the extent such duties and obligations are properly delegable.

3. <u>Meetings of the Association</u>.

- 3.1 The first meeting of the Association members shall be held within (6) six months after the closing of the sale of the first Lot sold in the Project. Thereafter, there shall be an annual meeting of the Association at a reasonable place in the Project or at a meeting place as close thereto as reasonably possible, and at a reasonable time as may be designated by written notice by the Management Committee. Notice of the annual meeting shall be delivered to the Owners by first-class mail not less than ten (10) days prior to the date set for said meeting and shall specify the place, day and hour of the meeting and a brief statement of the matters on the agenda which the Management Committee intends to present or believes others will present for action by the Owners. However, if at any annual or special meeting of the Association a material amendment to the Declaration or an extraordinary action (as such terms are defined and described in Section 19.2 of the Declaration) is to be considered, then notice of such meeting shall be delivered to the Owners by first-class mail not less than twenty-five (25) days prior to the date set for such meeting, which notice shall specify the place, day and hour of the meeting and a brief statement of the matters on the agenda which the Management Committee intends to present or believes others will present for action by the Owners The statement shall include the name, address and a brief biographical sketch, if available, of each person who will stand for election to the Management Committee.
- 3.2 Special meetings of the Association members may be called by the Declarant, the President, a majority of the Management Committee, or Owners representing at least twenty percent (20%) or more of the Total Votes of the Association and may be held at a reasonable place in the Project or at a meeting place as close thereto as reasonably possible, to consider matters which, by the terms of the Declaration, require the approval of all or some of the Owners or for any other reasonable purpose. Special meetings shall be called by written

notice signed by the Declarant, the President, a majority of the Management Committee or by Owners representing at least twenty percent (20%) or more of the Total Votes of the Association, which shall be hand delivered or sent prepaid by United States first-class mail, not less than ten (10) days (and with respect to a special meeting at which a material amendment to the Declaration or an extraordinary action is to be considered—as such terms are defined and described in Section 19.2 of the Declaration—not less than twenty-five (25) days) prior to the date fixed for said meeting, to each Owner at such Owner's address as shown in the records of the Association or to any other mailing address designated in writing by the Owner. Such notice shall specify the place, day and hour of the meeting and a brief statement of the items on the agenda, including the general nature of any proposed amendment to the Declaration or Bylaws, any budgetary changes and any proposal to remove an officer or member of the Management Committee.

- 3.3 The presence in person or by proxy of Owners holding twenty percent (20%) or more of the Total Votes of the Association at any meeting of the Association held in response to notice to all Owners of record properly given shall constitute a quorum. In the absence of a quorum at a Association meeting, a majority of those present in person or by proxy may adjourn the meeting to another time, but may not transact any other business. adjournment for lack of a quorum by those in attendance shall be to a date not less than five (5) nor more than thirty (30) days from the original meeting date. The quorum for an adjourned meeting shall also be twenty (20%) or more of the Total Votes of the Association. If the time and place for an adjourned meeting is not fixed by those in attendance at the original meeting, or if for any reason a new date is fixed for the adjourned meeting after adjournment, notice of the time and place of the adjourned meeting shall be given to members in the manner prescribed for regular meetings of the Association. At any special meeting of the Association, only those matters of business, the general nature of which was given in the notice of the special meeting, may be voted upon by the Owners. Action by the Owners on a matter other than the election of the members of the Board of Directors/Management Committee is approved if: (a) a quorum exists; (b) the votes cast by the Owners favoring the action exceed the votes cast by the Owners opposing the action; and (c) a greater number of affirmative votes is not required by the Nonprofit Corporation Act or by these Bylaws.
- 3.4 Any action that may be taken by the Owners at any annual or special meeting of the Association may be taken without a meeting and without prior notice, if one or more consents in writing, setting forth the action taken, are signed by the Owners having not less than the minimum voting power that would be necessary to authorize or take the action at a meeting at which all Owners entitled to vote on the action were present and voted in accordance with the requirements of Section 16-6a-707 of the Nonprofit Corporation Act.
- 3.5 Any action that may be taken by the Owners at any annual or special meeting of the Association may be taken without a meeting if the Association delivers a written ballot to every Owner entitled to vote on the matter in accordance with the requirements of Section 16-6a-709 of the Nonprofit Corporation Act. Approval by written ballot pursuant to this Section 3.5 shall be valid only when (a) the time by which all ballots must be received by the Association has passed so that a quorum can be determined; (b) the number of approvals equals or exceeds the number of votes that would be required to approve the matter at a meeting at which the total number of votes cast was the same as the number of votes cast by ballot. Unless

a larger quorum is required pursuant to these Bylaws, or unless otherwise provided in the Nonprofit Corporation Act, for purposes of taking action by written ballot, the number of votes cast by written ballot pursuant to this Section 3.5 constitute a quorum for action on the matter. A written ballot delivered to every Owner entitled to vote on the matter or matters therein, as described in this Section 3.5, may also be used in connection with any annual or special meeting of the Owners, thereby allowing Owners the choice of either voting in person, by proxy or by written ballot delivered by an Owner to the Association in lieu of attendance at such meeting. Any written ballot shall comply with the requirements of Section 16-6a-709 of the Nonprofit Corporation Act and shall be counted equally with the votes of Owners in attendance at any meeting for every purpose, including satisfaction of the quorum requirement.

- 3.6 For any Lots owned by more than one Owner, all of the Owners of such Lot may sign a certificate designating one of the co-Owners as the Owner authorized to cast the one (1) vote appurtenant to such Lot. In such event the Management Committee may rely on such certificate as being sufficient evidence of the authority of the Owner casting the vote appurtenant to such Lot. In the absence of such a certificate, if only one of several Owners of a Lot is present at a meeting of the Association, that Owner is entitled to cast the vote allocated to that Lot. If more than one of the Owners of a Lot is present, the vote allocated to that Lot may be cast only in accordance with the agreement of a majority in interest of such Owners. Absent a certificate of authorization, there shall be deemed to be majority agreement if any one of the Owners casts the vote allocated to the Lot owned without protest made promptly to the person presiding over the meeting by any of the other Owners of such Lot. The right to vote by proxy or by ballot shall exist only where the instrument authorizing such proxy to act or the ballot shall have been executed by the Owner or by its attorney thereunto duly authorized in writing. The instrument authorizing the proxy to act or the ballot shall be delivered at the beginning of the meeting to the secretary of the Association, or such other officer or person who may be acting as the secretary at the meeting. The secretary of the meeting shall enter a record of all such proxies and ballots in the minutes of the meeting. An Owner may revoke a proxy given pursuant to this Section only by actual notice of revocation to the Association. Actual notice includes the Association's receipt of one or more proxies signed by the same Owner. In such event, the proxy with the latest date shall be accepted. A proxy is void if it is not dated or purports to be revocable without notice. Proxies and ballots received by facsimile transmission are valid, if they meet all other requirements under this section. A written ballot may not be revoked.
- 3.7 Minutes of the annual and special meetings of the Association shall be distributed to each member within sixty (60) days after the meeting.

4. Officers.

4.1 The officers of the Association shall be appointed by the Management Committee, and all officers and employees of the Association shall serve at the will of the Management Committee. The officers shall be a President, Secretary and Treasurer. The offices of Secretary and Treasurer may be combined in the discretion of the Management Committee. The Management Committee may appoint Vice Presidents and such other assistant officers as the Management Committee may deem necessary. No officer shall be required to be an Owner. No officer shall receive compensation for serving as such. Officers shall be annually elected by the Management Committee and may be removed and replaced by the Management Committee.

The Management Committee shall require that officers (and other employees of the Association) be subject to fidelity bond coverage.

- 4.2 The President shall be the chief executive of the Management Committee and shall preside at all meetings of the Association and of the Management Committee and may exercise the power ordinarily allowable to the presiding officer of an association, including the appointment of committees. The President shall exercise general supervision over the Project and its affairs. He shall sign, and the Secretary shall witness on behalf of the Association, all conveyances, mortgages and contracts of material importance to its business. He shall do and perform all acts which the Management Committee may require.
- 4.3 The Vice President, if any, shall perform the functions of the President in his absence or inability to serve.
- 4.4 The Secretary shall keep minutes of all proceedings of the Management Committee and of the meetings of the Association and shall keep such books and records as may be necessary and appropriate for the records of the Owners and the Management Committee.
- 4.5 The Treasurer shall be responsible for the fiscal affairs of the Association but may delegate the daily handling of funds and the keeping of records to the Manager. If there are no Vice Presidents and the President is absent or unable to serve, then the Treasurer shall perform the functions of the President.
- 4.6 Any officer may prepare, execute, certify and record properly adopted amendments to the Declaration on behalf of the Association.

5. Common Expenses: Assessments.

- 5.1 All Common Expenses shall be made in accordance with the Declaration.
- 5.2 No Owner shall be exempt from liability for Common Expenses by waiver of the use or enjoyment of any of the Project or by abandonment of his Lot.
- 5.3 The Treasurer shall keep detailed records of all receipts and expenditures, including expenditures affecting the Project, specifying and itemizing the maintenance, repair and replacement expenses of the Project and any other expenses incurred. Such records shall be available for examination by the Owners during regular business hours. In accordance with the actions of the Management Committee in assessing Common Expenses against the Lots, the Treasurer shall keep an accurate record of such assessments and of the payments thereof by each Owner.
- 5.4 All assessments shall be a separate, distinct and personal liability of the Owners at the time each assessment is made. The Management Committee shall have the rights and remedies contained in the Declaration to enforce the collection of assessments.
- 5.5 Any person who shall have entered into a written agreement to purchase a Lot, by written request directed to the Management Committee, shall be entitled to obtain a written statement from the Treasurer setting forth the amount of the monthly, quarterly, annual or

8

other periodic assessment and the amount of unpaid assessments charged against such Lot and its Owner(s), and if such statement does not reveal the full amount of the unpaid assessments as of the date it is rendered, neither the purchaser nor the Lot shall be liable for the payment of an amount in excess of the unpaid assessments shown thereon, provided that the former Owner shall remain so liable for the excess. Any such excess which cannot be promptly collected from the former Owner grantor shall be reassessed by the Management Committee as a Common Expense to be collected from all Owners, including without limitation the purchaser of such Lot, his successors and assigns. The new Owner shall, and the former Owner shall not, be liable for any assessments made after the date of transfer of title, even though the expenses incurred or the advances made by the Management Committee for which the assessment is made relate in whole or in part to any period prior to that date. The Management Committee is authorized to require a reasonable fee for furnishing such statements.

- 5.6 In addition to the statements issuable to purchasers, the Management Committee shall, upon ten (10) days' prior written request therefor, provide to any Owner, to any person who shall have entered into a binding agreement to purchase a Lot and to any Mortgagee, on request at reasonable intervals a current statement of unpaid assessments for Common Expenses with respect to a Lot. The Management Committee is authorized to require a reasonable fee for furnishing such statements.
- 5.7 In all cases where all or part of any assessments for Common Expenses and capital contributions and for any expenses of and advances by the Management Committee cannot be promptly collected from the persons or entities liable therefor under the Declaration or these Bylaws, the Management Committee shall reassess the same as a Common Expense without prejudice to its right of collection against such persons or entities, or without prejudice to its lien for such assessments.

6. <u>Litigation</u>.

- 6.1 If any action is brought by a member of the Management Committee on behalf of the Association, the expenses of suit, including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs, shall be a Common Expense. Except as otherwise provided, if any action is brought against the Owners or against the Management Committee or the officers, employees or agents thereof in their capacities as such, with the result that the ultimate liability asserted would, if proved, be borne by all the Owners, the expenses of suit, including attorneys' fees and costs, shall be a Common Expense. If any action is brought against one or more, but less than all Owners, with the result that the ultimate liability would, if proved, be borne solely by such Owners, the expenses of suit, including attorneys' fees, shall not be charged to or borne by the other Owners, as a Common Expense or otherwise.
- 6.2 Any action brought against the Association, the Management Committee or the officers, employees or agents thereof, in their respective capacities as such, or the Project as a whole, shall be directed to the Management Committee, and shall be defended by the Management Committee; and the Owners and Mortgagees shall have no right to participate in such defense other than through the Management Committee. Actions against one or more, but less than all Owners, shall be directed to such Owners, who shall promptly give written notice thereof to the Management Committee, and shall be defended by such Owners.

7. Abatement and Enjoinment of Violations by Owners.

- 7.1 The violation of any rules or regulations adopted by the Management Committee, the breach of any provision contained herein or the breach of any provision of the Declaration shall give the Management Committee the right, in addition to any other rights set forth in these Bylaws:
- 7.1.1 To enter the Lot in which or as to which such violation or breach exists and to summarily abate and remove, at the expense of the defaulting Owner or Owners, any structure, thing or condition that may exist therein contrary to the intent and meaning of the provisions hereof, and the Management Committee shall not thereby be deemed guilty in any manner of trespass; and/or
- 7.1.2 To enjoin, abate or remedy by appropriate legal proceedings, either at law or in equity, the continuance of any such breach.
- 7.2 These remedies are cumulative to other remedies provided in the Declaration and these Bylaws or in any other applicable laws.

8. Records and Accounting.

- 8.1 The books and accounts of the Association shall be kept in accordance with generally accepted accounting procedures under the direction of the Treasurer.
- 8.2 A budget for each fiscal year consisting of at least the following information shall be adopted by the Management Committee and distributed to all members of the Association not less than 45 days and not more than 60 days prior to the beginning of the fiscal year to which the budget applies:
 - 8.2.1 Estimated revenue and expenses on an accrual basis.
- 8.2.2 The amount of the total cash reserves of the Association currently available for replacement or major repair of the Areas of Common Responsibility of the Project and for contingencies.
- 8.2.3 An itemized estimate of the current replacement costs of, and the estimated remaining life of, and the methods of funding to defray the costs of future repair, replacement or additions to the Areas of Common Responsibility for which the Association is responsible.
- 8.2.4 A general statement setting forth the procedures used by the Management Committee in the calculation and establishment of reserves to defray the costs of repair, replacement or additions to major components of the Areas of Common Responsibility for which the Association is responsible.
- 8.3 Unless the Association, by a majority of the Total Votes of the Association at the meeting of the Association held after distribution of the proposed budget, rejects the budget, the budget shall be deemed ratified, whether or not a quorum is present. If the proposed

budget is rejected, the periodic budget last ratified by the Owners shall be continued until such time as the Owners ratify a subsequent budget proposed by the Management Committee.

- 8.4 The Management Committee shall distribute to the Owners an annual report, consisting of the following, within one hundred twenty (120) days after the close of each fiscal year:
 - (a) A balance sheet as of the end of the fiscal year.
 - (b) An operating (income) statement for the fiscal year.
 - (c) A statement of changes in financial position for the fiscal year.
 - (d) Any other disclosures required by applicable state law.
- 8.5 The Management Committee (or the Manager, if so delegated by the Management Committee) shall do the following not less frequently than quarterly:
- (a) Cause a current reconciliation of the Association's operating accounts to be made and review the same.
- (b) Cause a current reconciliation of the Association's reserve accounts to be made and review the same.
- (c) Review the current year's actual reserve revenues and expenses compared to the current year's budget.
- (d) Review the most current account statements prepared by the financial institution where the Association has its operating and reserve accounts.
- (e) Review an income and expense statement for the Association's operating and reserve accounts.
- A copy of the Declaration, the Articles, these Bylaws, the rules and 8.6 regulations adopted by the Management Committee, the membership register, including mailing addresses and telephone numbers, books of account and minutes of meetings of the Association, of the Management Committee and of committees of the Management Committee and all other records of the Project maintained by the Association, Manager or managing company (other than privileged or confidential information) shall be made available for inspection and copying by any member of the Association or his duly appointed representative, a First Mortgagee or prospective purchaser at any reasonable time and for a purpose reasonably related to his respective interest at the office where the records are maintained. Upon receipt of an authenticated written request from an Owner, First Mortgagee or prospective purchaser (each, a "Requesting Party") along with the fee prescribed by the Management Committee to defray the costs of reproduction, the manager or other custodian of records of the Association shall prepare and transmit to the Requesting Party a copy of any and all records requested. The Association may, as a condition to permitting a Requesting Party to inspect the membership register or to its furnishing information from the register, require that the Requesting Party agree in writing not to use, or allow the use,

11

of information from the membership register for commercial or other purposes not reasonably related to the regular business of the Association and the Requesting Party's respective interest in the Association. Furthermore, upon written request from a holder, insurer or guarantor of any First Mortgage secured by a Lot, the Association shall be required to prepare and furnish within one hundred twenty (120) days an audited financial statement of the Association for the immediately preceding fiscal year. The Management Committee shall establish reasonable rules with respect to:

- 8.6.1 Notice to be given to the custodian of the records by the Requesting Party desiring to make the inspection or obtain copies;
- 8.6.2 Hours and days of the week when such an inspection may be made;
- 8.6.3 Payment of the cost of reproducing copies of documents requested by a Requesting Party.

Every member of the Management Committee shall have the absolute right at any time to inspect all books, records and documents of the Association and to inspect all real and personal properties owned or controlled by the Association. This right of inspection shall include the right to make extracts and copies of records, subject only to the right of the Association to require that the Management Committee member agree in writing not to use, or allow the use of, the information from the membership register for commercial or other purposes not reasonably related to the business of the Association and the Management Committee member's interest in the Association.

9. Special Committees. The Management Committee by resolution may designate one or more special committees, each committee to consist of two (2) or more of the members of the Management Committee, which to the extent provided in said resolution shall have and may exercise the powers set forth in said resolution. Such special committee or committees shall have such name or names as may be determined from time to time by the Management Committee. All special committees shall keep regular minutes of their proceedings and report the same to the Management Committee when required. The members of such special committee or committees designated shall be appointed by the Management Committee or the President. The Management Committee or the President may appoint Owners to fill vacancies on each of said special committees occasioned by death, resignation, removal or inability to act for any extended period of time.

10. Rental or Lease of Lots by Owners.

- 10.1 Any Owner who rents or leases his Lot shall file with the Management Committee or Manager a copy of the rental or lease agreement. The provisions of Section 7 of these Bylaws shall apply with equal force to renters or lessees of Lots.
- 10.2 Any Owner who rents or leases or otherwise permits any other person to utilize his Lot shall be responsible for the conduct of his tenants or occupants, and upon written notice from the Management Committee or the Manager, said Owner shall be responsible for

correcting violations of the Declaration, Bylaws or rules and regulations committed by such tenants or occupants.

- 10.3 If an Owner fails to correct violations by tenants within 72 hours of such notice, the Management Committee or Manager shall be deemed to be the agent of the Owner and empowered to take any enforcement action the Owner would be entitled to take, the reasonable costs of such action, including but not limited to fees and costs paid to third parties, to be assessed to the Owner and payable within 30 days of assessment. Such costs shall be collected and enforced in the same manner as Common Expenses under the Declaration.
- 10.4 The power of the Management Committee or Manager hereunder shall include but not be limited to any and all legal remedies available under the laws of the State of Utah. Any Owner by the act of renting, leasing or otherwise permitting any other person to utilize such Owner's Lot shall be deemed to have consented to these procedures and shall indemnify and save harmless the Management Committee and the Manager from and against any and all liability therefor. It is expressly understood that the remedies available to the Management Committee or Manager shall include but not be limited to the right to seek eviction of the tenant without any liability to the Owner.
- 11. Amendment of Bylaws. Except as otherwise provided in the Declaration or these Bylaws, the Bylaws may be amended by the vote or written assent of Owners holding a majority of the Total Votes of the Association. Provided, however, the percentage of the voting power necessary to amend a specific clause or provision shall not be less than the percentage of affirmative votes prescribed for action to be taken under that clause. Upon such an affirmative vote, the Management Committee shall acknowledge the amended Bylaws, setting forth the fact of the required affirmative vote of the Owners, and the amendment shall be effective upon recording a copy of the amendment in the Office of the Recorder of Salt Lake County, Utah. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained or implied herein, Declarant reserves the right, without the consent of any other Owners, to amend any provisions of these Bylaws to comply with the then existing statutes, regulations or other requirements of the Utah Department of Commerce Real Estate Division or any other federal, state or local regulatory authority affecting the Project.
- 12. <u>Severability</u>. The provisions hereof shall be deemed independent and severable, and the invalidity or partial invalidity or unenforceability of any one provision or portion hereof shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision hereof.
- 13. <u>Captions</u>. The captions herein are inserted only as a matter of convenience and for reference and in no way to define, limit or describe the scope of these Bylaws nor the intent of any provision hereof.
- 14. <u>Effective Date</u>. These Bylaws shall take effect upon adoption by the Management Committee.
- 15. <u>Seal</u>. The Management Committee may by resolution provide a corporate seal which shall be circular in form and shall have inscribed thereon the name of the Association, the state of incorporation and the words "Corporate Seal."

- 16. <u>Arbitration</u>. Any unresolved dispute, disagreement or controversy between Declarant and the Association shall at the request of either party be submitted to an arbitration board of at least three members with one chosen by the Association, the other by the Declarant and a third chosen by the other two arbitrators so chosen. The arbitrators shall act in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules then in effect of the American Arbitration Association. The decision of the majority of such arbitrators shall be binding on the Association and the Declarant. Such decisions shall include the awarding of costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, as the arbitrators shall determine. The decision of the arbitrators shall be judicially enforceable as a judgment.
- 17. Payment of Assessment. No Owner shall be permitted to convey, hypothecate, sell, or lease such Owner's Lot, unless and until such Owner shall have paid in full to the Management Committee all unpaid charges assessed by the Management Committee against such Owner's Lot and until such Owner shall have satisfied all unpaid liens against such Lot, except permitted mortgages and mortgages made by Declarant.

Adopted this 1st day of April, 2004.

Connie Quintana, Secretary/Treasurer